# BUSINESS AND PROPERTY COURTS OF ENGLAND AND WALES INSOLVENCY AND COMPANIES LIST

# IN THE MATTER OF AVIVA LIFE & PENSIONS UK LIMITED

and

# IN THE MATTER OF FRIENDS FIRST LIFE ASSURANCE COMPANY DAC

and

# IN THE MATTER OF THE FINANCIAL SERVICES AND MARKETS ACT 2000

## **SCHEME**

pursuant to Part VII of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000

Slaughter and May One Bunhill Row London EC1Y 8YY

> (JADM/RRH) 547209219

Aviva: Confidential

# **CONTENTS**

Para	graph Pa	age
PART	Γ A – DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
1	Definitions and interpretation	1
PART	FB – INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS	.20
2	Parties and background	.20
PART	ΓC-TRANSFER	.22
3	Transfer of the Transferred Business	.22
4	Continuity of Proceedings	.24
5	Treatment of Transferred Policies	.26
6	Treatment of Transferred Contracts	.30
7	Premiums, mandates and other payments	.31
8	Declaration of trust and wrong pocket	.31
9	Indemnities in favour of the Transferor	.32
10	Indemnity in favour of the Transferee	.33
11	Determination of the NIA Amount and the Nominated Investment Assets	.34
12	Balancing Amount	.34
PART	T D – FUND ALLOCATION	.35
13	Establishment and maintenance of the ALPI Funds	.35
14	Allocation of Day One Policies and Day One Contracts	.35
15	Allocation of Day One Assets	.37
16	Allocation of Day One Liabilities	.37
17	Allocation of Deferred Transfer Business	.39
18	Allocation of Existing Transferee Assets and Liabilities at the Effective Time	.39
19	Establishment of Linked Funds	.39
20	General provisions in respect of ALPI Fund allocation	.41
PART	Γ E – OPERATION OF THE ALPI FUNDS	.43
21	Allocation of continuing business	.43
22	Allocation of New Policies	.43

23	Allocation of property and liabilities that arise after the Effective Time	45
24	Re-allocation of non-profit Policies	45
25	Re-allocation of with-profits Policies	46
26	Transfers and exchanges	47
27	Delay in allocation or misallocation to the ALPI Funds	47
28	Financial management of the ALPI Funds	48
29	Intra-Group loans	49
30	Internal Reinsurance Arrangements	50
31	Other provisions in relation to reinsurance	50
32	Limitations on the reallocation or reinsurance of with-profits Policies	52
33	Switching provisions	52
34	Role of the With-Profits Committee	53
35	ALPI SRA Statement	53
36	Financial support	53
37	Tax	54
38	Merger and division of ALPI UKLAP Funds (general)	55
39	Amendment to arrangements in relation to the Wholly Reinsured Funds	55
PART	F – ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE ALPI IRISH WPF	58
40	IWPF PPFM	58
41	Annuities payable from the ALPI Irish WPF	58
42	Conversion of Converting IWPF Policies into non-profit Policies	58
43	Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies and Split IWPF With-Profits Policies	60
44	Distribution from the ALPI Irish WPF	62
PART	G - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	65
45	Effective Time	65
46	Effect of transfer	65
47	Netting of transfers or re-allocations	65
48	Costs and expenses	66
49	Variations	66

51	Annual certification of Scheme compliance	68
52	Third party rights	69
53	Agreed form documents	69
54	Successors and assigns	69
55	Governing law	69
Sche	dule 1 List of Transferred Policy products	70
Schedule 2 OLAB Reinsurance Agreement (agreed form)		84
Sche	dule 3 NIA Amount and Nominated Investment Assets	85
1	Calculation of the NIA Amount	85
2	Determination of the Nominated Investment Assets	85
Sche	dule 4 Calculation of Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses	86
1	Principles of calculation	86

#### PART A - DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

## 1 Definitions and interpretation

1.1 In this Scheme, unless the subject or context requires otherwise, the following expressions shall bear the following meanings:

2015 Regulations means the European Union (Insurance and Reinsurance) Regulations 2015;

**ALPI Belgian Fund** means the fund established and maintained by the Transferee pursuant to paragraph 13.1(a);

ALPI FF Funds means the Closed Fund, the Other Business Fund and the Participating Fund;

**ALPI FLAS Fund** means the fund established and maintained by the Transferee pursuant to paragraph 13.1(b);

**ALPI FP Fund** means the fund established and maintained by the Transferee pursuant to paragraph 13.1(c);

**ALPI Funds** means the ALPI FF Funds, the ALPI UKLAP Funds and any other Long-Term Insurance Business fund of the Transferee established from time to time;

**ALPI Irish WPF** means the with-profits fund established and maintained by the Transferee pursuant to paragraph 13.1(d);

**ALPI New Fund** means the fund established and maintained by the Transferee pursuant to paragraph 13.1(e);

**ALPI Old Fund** means the fund established and maintained by the Transferee pursuant to paragraph 13.1(f);

### **ALPI SHF** means:

- (a) prior to the Effective Time, the assets and liabilities of the Transferee other than those attributable or represented by the ALPI FF Funds; and
- (b) after the Effective Time, the assets and liabilities of the Transferee other than those attributable or represented by the ALPI Funds;

**ALPI SRA Statement** means the internal risk appetite statement of the Transferee, as adopted by the Transferee's Board and as amended from time to time in accordance with this Scheme;

**ALPI UKLAP Funds** means the ALPI Belgian Fund, the ALPI FLAS Fund, the ALPI FP Fund, the ALPI Irish WPF, the ALPI New Fund and the ALPI Old Fund:

**Arms' Length Consideration** means, in respect of a transaction, an amount determined by the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, to be an appropriate arms' length consideration for such transaction;

**Available Own Funds** has the meaning given to it in the Solvency II Directive (2009/138/EC), as amended and supplemented by the Omnibus II Directive (2014/51/EU);

Balancing Amount has the meaning given to it in paragraph 12.1;

**Balancing Assets** means the property of the Transferee selected by the Transferee (in the case of paragraph 12.2(a)) or the property of the Transferor selected by the Transferor (in the case of paragraph 12.2(b)) in either case having a value on the Balancing Assets Transfer Date equal to the absolute value of the Balancing Amount;

**Balancing Assets Transfer Date** means a date selected by the Transferee (in the case of paragraph 12.2(a)) or the Transferor (in the case of paragraph 12.2(b)) not being more than five (5) days after the Transferor has determined the Balancing Amount in accordance with paragraph 12.1;

**Board** means, in respect of a company, the board of directors of that company from time to time:

Brexit has the meaning given to it in paragraph 2.3;

**Business Day** means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday in the United Kingdom or the Republic of Ireland) on which banks are open in London and Dublin for general commercial business:

Capitalisation Amount shall be expressed in Euro and calculated as:

where:

- (a) A = the Solvency Capital Requirement of the Transferee immediately after the Effective
   Time (expressed in Euro); and
- (b) B = the Available Own Funds of the Transferee immediately after the Effective Time (taking into account, for the avoidance of doubt, the transfer of the Irish Branch IWPSF Assets, the Irish Branch NPSF Assets and the OLAB Premium Assets), but disregarding the impact of the Capitalisation Amount itself (expressed in Euro);

CBI means the Central Bank of Ireland;

**Closed Fund** means the with-profits fund named the "Closed Fund" maintained by the Transferee;

**Contract** means a contract, commitment, agreement, indenture, note, bond, mortgage, loan, instrument, lease, licence or equivalent arrangement;

**Converting IWPF Policy** means a Policy that is allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF at the IWPF Conversion Date;

Court means the High Court of Justice;

Day One Assets means all Transferred Assets that are not Deferred Transfer Assets;

Day One Business means together:

- (a) the Day One Assets;
- (b) the Day One Contracts;
- (c) the Day One Liabilities; and
- (d) the Day One Policies,

and all activities carried on in connection therewith;

Day One Contracts means all Transferred Contracts that are not Deferred Transfer Contracts;

Day One Liabilities means all Transferred Liabilities that are not Deferred Transfer Liabilities;

Day One Policies means all Transferred Policies that are not Deferred Transfer Policies;

**DC Policy** means any defined charge Policy which includes the right to invest in with-profits investment (whether by the allocation of WP Units or otherwise) and which may also include the right to invest in UL Units, under which the only charges and expense deductions which may be made from the premiums or assets referable to that Policy are those specifically defined in the relevant Policy;

**Deed of Charge** means the agreement entitled "Deed of Charge", to be entered into between the Transferor and the Transferee in accordance with paragraph 53;

## **Deferred Transfer Assets** means:

(a) all Transferred Assets where the Court has not sanctioned their transfer to the Transferee at the Effective Time under section 112(2) of FSMA;

3

- (b) all Transferred Assets where their transfer is outside the jurisdiction of the Court, or where their transfer pursuant to an order of the Court is not recognised under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the property is situated, or where further steps are necessary to effect their transfer pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction in which such property is situated;
- (c) all Transferred Assets which cannot be transferred to or vested in the Transferee at the Effective Time for any other reason;
- (d) all Transferred Assets where the Transferor and Transferee agree prior to the Effective Time that their transfer should be delayed; and
- (e) all proceeds of sale or income or other accrual or return whatsoever, whether or not in any case in the form of cash, earned or received from time to time after the Effective Time but prior to the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date in respect of any such property referred to in paragraphs (a) to (d) of this definition;

## **Deferred Transfer Business** means together:

- (a) the Deferred Transfer Assets;
- (b) the Deferred Transfer Contracts;
- (c) the Deferred Transfer Liabilities; and
- (d) the Deferred Transfer Policies,

and all activities carried on in connection therewith;

## **Deferred Transfer Contracts** means:

- (a) all Transferred Contracts where the Court has not sanctioned their transfer to the Transferee at the Effective Time under section 112(2) of FSMA;
- (b) all Transferred Contracts where their transfer is outside the jurisdiction of the Court, or where their transfer pursuant to an order of the Court is not recognised under the laws of the jurisdiction which govern such Contract, or where further steps are necessary to effect their transfer pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction which govern such Contract;
- (c) all Transferred Contracts which cannot be transferred to or vested in the Transferee at the Effective Time for any other reason; and
- (d) all Transferred Contracts where the Transferor and Transferee agree prior to the Effective Time that their transfer should be delayed;

#### **Deferred Transfer Liabilities** means:

- (a) all Transferred Liabilities that are attributable to or connected with a Deferred Transfer Asset, Deferred Transfer Contract or Deferred Transfer Policy and that arise at any time before the Subsequent Transfer Date applicable to that Deferred Transfer Asset;
- (b) all Transferred Liabilities where the Court has not sanctioned their transfer to the Transferee at the Effective Time under section 112(2) of FSMA;
- (c) all Transferred Liabilities where their transfer is outside the jurisdiction of the Court, or where their transfer pursuant to an order of the Court is not recognised under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the liability is situated, or where further steps are necessary to effect their transfer pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction in which such liability is situated;
- (d) all Transferred Liabilities to the extent arising out of Outstanding Ombudsman Proceedings;
- (e) all Transferred Liabilities which cannot be transferred to or vested in the Transferee at the Effective Time for any other reason; and
- (f) all Transferred Liabilities where the Transferor and Transferee agree prior to the Effective Time that their transfer should be delayed;

# **Deferred Transfer Policies** means:

- (a) all Transferred Policies where, for the purpose of section 111(2) of FSMA and paragraph 1(2A) of Schedule 12 to FSMA, the PRA has not provided the certificate referred to in paragraph 3A of Schedule 12 to FSMA prior to the making of the Order;
- (b) all Transferred Policies where the Court has not sanctioned their transfer to the Transferee at the Effective Time under section 112(2) of FSMA;
- (c) all Transferred Policies where their transfer is outside the jurisdiction of the Court, or where their transfer pursuant to an order of the Court is not recognised under the laws of the jurisdiction which govern such Policy, or where further steps are necessary to effect their transfer pursuant to the laws of the jurisdiction which govern such Policy;
- (d) all Transferred Policies which cannot be transferred to or vested in the Transferee at the Effective Time for any other reason; and
- (e) all Transferred Policies where the Transferor and Transferee agree prior to the Effective Time that their transfer should be delayed;

**EEA State** has the meaning set out in paragraph 8, Part 1 of Schedule 3 to FSMA;

**Effective Time** means the time and date on which this Scheme shall take effect in accordance with paragraph 45;

**Encumbrance** means a mortgage, charge, pledge, security assignment, lien, option, restriction, right of first refusal, right of pre-emption, third party right or interest, any other encumbrance or security interest of any kind, or any other type of preferential arrangement (including, without limitation, title transfer and retention agreements) having a similar effect;

### **Equivalent UKLAP Sub-Fund means:**

- (a) in respect of the ALPI Belgian Fund, the "Belgian SF"; and
- (b) in respect of the ALPI FLAS Fund, the "FLAS With-Profits Sub-Fund";
- (c) in respect of the ALPI FP Fund, the "FP With-Profits Sub-Fund";
- (d) in respect of the ALPI Irish WPF, the "Irish With-Profits Sub-Fund";
- (e) in respect of the ALPI New Fund, the "New With-Profits Sub-Fund";
- (f) in respect of the ALPI Old Fund, the "Old With-Profits Sub-Fund"; and
- (g) in respect of the Other Business Fund, the "Non-Profit Sub-Fund" and the "Shareholder Fund",

in each case as maintained by the Transferor (or such successor fund or sub-fund established or maintained by the Transferor from time to time as the Transferee may determine);

## Excluded Assets means:

- (a) all property of the Transferor that is not referred to in limbs (a) to (h) of the definition of Transferred Assets:
- (b) all property of the Transferor where the Transferor and Transferee agree prior to the Effective Time that such property should not be transferred at all; and
- (c) all books, records, files and papers that the Transferor is required by Regulatory Requirements to retain;

**Excluded Contracts** means all Contracts that exclusively relate to Transferred Policies that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were allocated to the "Belgian SF", the "FLAS With-Profits Sub-Fund", the "FP With-Profits Sub-Fund", the "New With-Profits Sub-Fund" or the "Old

With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor, or which otherwise relate to Transferred Policies reinsured by the Transferor pursuant to the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement;

#### **Excluded Liabilities** means:

- (a) all liabilities of the Transferor which are attributable to Excluded Assets or Excluded Contracts;
- (b) all liabilities of the Transferor where the Transferor and Transferee agree prior to the Effective Time that such liabilities shall not be transferred at all: and
- (c) all liabilities of the Transferor arising as a consequence of the implementation of this Scheme, whenever incurred,

including, for the avoidance of doubt, any such liabilities relating to Tax;

**Existing Transferee Assets** means all assets of the Transferee (whatsoever and wheresoever situated) forming part of the Transferee's Long-Term Insurance Business immediately prior to the Effective Time;

**Existing Transferee Liabilities** means all liabilities whatsoever of the Transferee forming part of the Transferee's Long-Term Insurance Business immediately prior to the Effective Time;

**Existing Transferee Policies** means every Policy written by or novated or transferred to the Transferee prior to the Effective Time under which any liability remains unsatisfied or outstanding at the Effective Time;

# Existing Transferee Schemes means each of:

- (a) the Irish scheme between Friends Provident Life Office and the Transferee, as sanctioned by the Irish High Court on 23 January 1991 and effective on 31 January 1991;
- (b) the Irish scheme between NM Life Assurance Ireland Limited and the Transferee, as sanctioned by the Irish High Court on 13 February 1995 and effective on 28 February 1995; and
- (c) the Irish scheme between First Managed Pension Funds Designated Activity Company and the Transferee, as sanctioned by the Irish High Court on 21 March 2017 and effective on 31 March 2017;

FCA means the Financial Conduct Authority;

FCA Glossary means the Glossary of the FCA Handbook;

**FCA Handbook** means the handbook of rules and guidance issued by the FCA from time to time pursuant to FSMA;

**FL English Scheme** means the English scheme of transfer between Friends Life Limited, Friends Life and Pensions Limited, Aviva Investors Pensions Limited, Aviva Pension Trustees UK Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the High Court on 13 September 2017 and effective on 1 October 2017;

#### FL Schemes means each of:

- (a) the English scheme of transfer between Friends Life Limited, Friends Life and Pensions Limited, Aviva Investors Pensions Limited, Aviva Pension Trustees UK Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the High Court on 13 September 2017 and effective on 1 October 2017;
- (b) the Guernsey scheme of transfer between Friends Life Limited, Friends Life and Pensions Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the Royal Court of Guernsey on 22 September 2017 and effective on 1 October 2017; and
- (c) the Jersey scheme of transfer between Friends Life Limited, Friends Life and Pensions Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the Royal Court of Jersey on 20 September 2017 and effective on 1 October 2017;

**Freedom of Establishment** means the right of an insurer in an EEA State to pursue business in an EEA State other than its Home State, pursuant to articles 145-146 of Directive 2009/138/EC:

**Freedom of Services** means the right of an insurer in an EEA State to pursue business in an EEA State other than its Home State, pursuant to articles 147-149 of Directive 2009/138/EC;

**FSMA** means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;

**Group** means in respect of any person:

- (a) that person;
- (b) its holding companies from time to time;
- (c) its subsidiaries from time to time; and
- (d) each of the subsidiaries from time to time of any such holding company;

Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses has the meaning given to it in paragraph 42.1;

Hamilton Schemes means each of:

- (a) the English scheme of transfer between Hamilton Life Assurance Company Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the High Court on 10 December 2009 and effective on 31 December 2009; and
- (b) the English scheme of transfer between Hamilton Insurance Company Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the High Court on 10 December 2009 and effective on 31 December 2009:

**Head of Actuarial Function** means the Head of Actuarial Function of the Transferee from time to time:

Home State means, in relation to an insurance undertaking, the EEA State in which the registered office of the insurance undertaking is situated (if any);

**Hybrid Policy** means any Policy (which is not a DC Policy) with its with-profits component allocated to, or reassured to, an ALPI Fund, the effecting and carrying out of which constitutes in whole or in part linked Long-Term Insurance Business and which includes the option to invest in both UL Units and with-profits investment (whether by the allocation of WP Units or otherwise);

**Intermediary** means a broker, agent, employee benefit consultant, independent financial adviser or other intermediary that is not an appointed representative (as defined in the FCA Glossary), and that is party to an agreement with the Transferor to distribute the Transferor's products in respect of the Transferred Business at any relevant time;

**Internal Cedant** means, in respect of an Internal Reinsurance Arrangement, the ALPI Fund benefiting from the protection equivalent to reinsurance;

Internal Reinsurance Arrangement has the meaning given to it in paragraph 30;

**Internal Reinsurer** means, in respect of an Internal Reinsurance Arrangement, the ALPI Fund providing the protection equivalent to reinsurance;

**Internally Reinsured Policy** means any Policy which is to any extent the subject of an Internal Reinsurance Arrangement;

**Irish 2014 Scheme** means the Irish scheme between Aviva Life & Pensions Ireland Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the Irish High Court on 2 December 2014 and effective on 1 January 2015;

**Irish Branch NPSF Assets** means all property owned by the Transferor's tax branch in Ireland and allocated to the "Non-Profit Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor, but excluding any such property backing Transferred Liabilities of the Transferor that, following their transfer to the Transferee, will be reinsured to the Transferor pursuant to the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement;

**Irish Branch IWPSF Assets** means all property owned by the Transferor and allocated to the "Irish With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor;

**IWPF Conversion** means the re-allocation of the Converting IWPF Policies, property and liabilities to the Replacement Fund in accordance with paragraph 42;

**IWPF Conversion Date** has the meaning given to it in paragraph 42.1;

**IWPF New With-Profits Policy** means any Policy issued by the Transferee after the Effective Time which includes a right (including an option, whether exercised or not) to participate in the surplus of the ALPI Irish WPF;

**IWPF PPFM** means the principles and practices of financial management applicable to the ALPI Irish WPF, as they may be amended from time to time in accordance with their terms;

**IWPF With-Profits Policy** means a Transferred Policy which confers on the holder a right to participate in surplus of the ALPI Irish WPF, but excluding any Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies and Split IWPF With-Profits Policies;

**Linked Fund** means an internal fund forming part of an insurer's Long-Term Insurance Business maintained for the purpose of calculating linked benefits under Policies, other than benefits linked to the value of WP Units, including any successor to any such internal fund;

**Linked Fund Assets** means property that is specifically allocated to one or more Linked Funds of the Transferee and separately managed for such Linked Fund(s) for the benefit of one or more ALPI Funds;

**Linked Policy** means a long-term insurance contract where the benefits are wholly or partly to be determined by reference to the value of, or the income from, property of any description or by reference to fluctuations in, or in an index of, the value of property of any description;

**Long-Term Insurance Business** means, as the context requires:

- (a) long term insurance business as defined in the PRA Glossary; or
- (b) life assurance business as defined in Article 2 of the European Communities (Life Assurance) Framework Regulations 1994 of Ireland;

**Mis-Selling** means, in respect of any Policy, the sale of the Policy (or an associated Waiver of Premium Protection Product) in circumstances where actions and/or omissions of the Transferor (or any other persons or entities which were involved in such sale, including any relevant predecessor of the Transferor, Intermediary or appointed representative) constituted, or are alleged to have constituted, a breach of relevant Regulatory Requirements;

**New Policies** means all Policies that are issued by the Transferee after the Effective Time (including all Policies which comes into force after the Effective Time as a result of an option or right contained in a Transferred Policy or an Existing Transferee Policy);

NIA Amount has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 3;

Nominated Investment Assets has the meaning given to it in paragraph 2.1 of Schedule 3;

**OLAB Premium Assets** means property of the Transferor having a value equal to the Total Back-Book Premium:

**OLAB Reinsurance Agreement** means the agreement entitled "OLAB Reinsurance Agreement", in the agreed form set out at Schedule 2, to be entered into between the Transferor and the Transferee in accordance with paragraph 53;

**Order** means an order made by the Court pursuant to section 111 of FSMA sanctioning this Scheme (or any part of it) and any order (including any subsequent order) in relation to this Scheme made by the Court pursuant to section 112 of FSMA;

**Other Business Fund** means the fund named the "Other Business Fund" maintained by the Transferee:

**Outstanding Ombudsman Proceedings** means Proceedings which (i) were initiated against the Transferor with an ombudsman prior to the Effective Time, and (ii) have not been finally determined at the Effective Time;

**Participating Fund** means the with-profits fund named the "Participating Fund" maintained by the Transferee;

**Peak Scheme** means the English scheme of transfer between Royal Scottish Assurance plc, National Westminster Life Assurance Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the High Court on 21 September 2011 and effective on 30 September 2011:

**Policy** has the meaning set out in the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Meaning of "Policy" and "Policyholder") Order 2001 (SI 2001/2361) and "policyholder" shall be construed accordingly;

PRA means the Prudential Regulation Authority;

PRA Glossary means the Glossary of the PRA Rulebook;

**PRA Rulebook** means the book of rules applicable to insurance firms subject to Solvency II issued by the PRA from time to time pursuant to FSMA;

**Proceedings** means an action or other legal or administrative proceedings or step (whether direct or indirect, by way of a claim, demand, legal proceedings, execution of judgement, arbitration, complaint or otherwise howsoever) whether pending, current or future, including:

- (a) all judicial, quasi-judicial, administrative and regulatory reviews and processes;
- (b) all complaints and claims made to any ombudsman, including the UK Financial Ombudsman Service;
- (c) arbitration;
- (d) mediation; and
- (e) all other dispute resolution procedures (whether or not they involve submission to any court):

**RAO** means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Regulated Activities) Order 2001 (SI 2001/544), as amended;

**Reattribution Scheme** means the English scheme of transfer between CGNU Life Assurance Limited, Commercial Union Life Assurance Company Limited, Norwich Union Life (RBS) Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the High Court on 18 September 2009 and effective on 1 October 2009;

**Regulatory Requirements** means all applicable laws, statutes, regulations, rules, orders, directives, requirements, guidance, standards, guidelines and industry codes of practice in each case having legal effect stipulated by any legal, governmental or regulatory body with powers of direction over the relevant entity, including the rules of any stock exchange or listing authority, in each case existing and in force from time to time, wherever relevant in the context;

**Relevant CPC Principles** means the following general principles contained within Chapter 2 of the Central Bank of Ireland's Consumer Protection Code 2012 (as updated with effect from 1 January 2015) which require that a regulated entity:

- (a) acts honestly, fairly and professionally in the best interests of its customers and the integrity of the market; and
- (b) acts with due skill, care and diligence in the best interests of its customers;

Replacement Fund has the meaning given to it in paragraph 42.1;

**Scheme** means this scheme in its original form or with or subject to any modification, addition or condition which may be approved or imposed in accordance with paragraph 49;

**Solvency Capital Requirement** has the meaning given to it in the Solvency II Directive (2009/138/EC), as amended and supplemented by the Omnibus II Directive (2014/51/EU);

**Split IWPF With-Profits Policy** means a Transferred Policy under the terms of which the benefits can, at the election of the policyholder, be wholly linked to one or more unitised funds or Linked Funds of the ALPI Irish WPF or be partly so linked with the remainder of the benefits being secured as a conventional with-profits sum assured participating in surplus;

**Subsequent Transfer Date** means, in relation to a Deferred Transfer Policy, Deferred Transfer Contract, Deferred Transfer Asset or Deferred Transfer Liability, the date after the Effective Time on which it is or is to be transferred to the Transferee, namely:

- (a) the date on which all impediments to its transfer shall have been removed or overcome;
- (b) the date on which the Transferor and the Transferee agree the transfer should take effect;
- (c) the date on which such Deferred Transfer Asset is received or earned by the Transferor; or
- (d) in relation to Outstanding Ombudsman Proceedings, the date on which the Outstanding Ombudsman Proceedings are finally determined,

(as applicable);

**Switch** means a cancellation of units allocated to a Policy in one ALPI Fund or Linked Fund in return for an allocation of units in another ALPI Fund or Linked Fund, effected (i) pursuant to an instruction given by or on behalf of the holder or underlying beneficiary of a Policy or (ii) on another basis as provided for in the Policy terms and conditions, and a consequent change in some or all of the investments from which the Policy concerned derives its value and (i) "**Switch out of**" means such a cancellation, (ii) "**Switch into**" means such an allocation and (iii) "**full Switch out of**" a particular ALPI Fund or Linked Fund means, a cancellation of all units allocated to a policy in that ALPI Fund or Linked Fund;

#### Tax means:

- (a) all forms of tax, levy, duty, charge, impost, withholding or other amount whenever created or imposed and whether of the United Kingdom, Republic of Ireland or elsewhere, payable to or imposed by any authority responsible for the collection or management of any such tax, levy, duty, charge, impost, withholding or other amount; and
- (b) all charges, interest, penalties and fines incidental or relating to any sum falling within (a) above or which arise as a result of the failure to pay that sum on the due date or to comply with any obligation relating to it;

Third Party Right has the meaning given to it in paragraph 9.2(a);

Total Back-Book Premium has the meaning given to it in the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement;

**Transferee** has the meaning given to it in paragraph 2.2;

**Transferor** has the meaning given to it in paragraph 2.1;

Transferred Assets means:

(a) all rights, benefits and powers of the Transferor under or in connection with the

Transferred Policies;

(b) all rights, benefits and powers of the Transferor under or in connection with the

**Transferred Contracts:** 

(c) all rights and claims (in contemplation, present or future, actual or contingent) of the

Transferor against any person that is a party to or is a beneficiary of any of the relevant

Transferred Policies or Transferred Contracts not within paragraphs (a) or (b) above of

this definition to the extent that such right or claim relates to such Transferred Policies or

Transferred Contracts, or arises as a result of such Transferred Policies or Transferred

Contracts;

(d) all Irish Branch IWPSF Assets;

(e) all Irish Branch NPSF Assets;

(f) all Nominated Investment Assets (if any);

(g) all OLAB Premium Assets; and

(h) all books, records, files and papers, whether in hard copy or computer format, relating to

the Transferred Policies and the Transferred Contracts, including claims and underwriting

files, sales and promotional literature, manuals and data, sales and purchase

correspondence and lists of present and former customers,

but excluding any Excluded Assets;

Transferred Business means together:

(a) the Transferred Assets;

(b) the Transferred Contracts;

(c) the Transferred Liabilities; and

14

(d) the Transferred Policies,

and all activities carried on in connection therewith;

**Transferred Contracts** means all Contracts that exclusively relate to Transferred Policies or any activity carried on in connection therewith, but excluding (i) any Transferred Policies and (ii) any Excluded Contracts;

#### Transferred Liabilities means:

- (a) all liabilities of the Transferor under or in connection with the Transferred Contracts;
- (b) all liabilities of the Transferor under or in connection with the Transferred Policies;
- (c) all rights and claims (present or future, actual or contingent) against the Transferor not within paragraphs (a) or (b) above of this definition by any person other than the Transferor to the extent that such rights and claims relate to the Transferred Assets, Transferred Policies or Transferred Contracts, or arise as a result of the Transferred Assets, Transferred Contracts or Transferred Policies (including any adverse costs orders in relation to the same); and
- (d) all liabilities of the Transferor in respect of Tax to the extent attributable to the Transferred Assets, Transferred Contracts or Transferred Policies (pursuant to this Scheme or otherwise),

(including, for the avoidance of doubt, any such liabilities in respect of or in connection with Mis-Selling) but excluding any Excluded Liabilities;

### Transferred Policies means:

- (a) all Policies effected and/or carried on by the Transferor on a Freedom of Establishment basis out of the Transferor's branches in Belgium, France and the Republic of Ireland, and in respect of which a liability remains unsatisfied or outstanding at the Effective Time;
- (b) all Policies effected and/or carried on by the Transferor and falling within any of the product lines set out in Schedule 1, and in respect of which a liability remains unsatisfied or outstanding at the Effective Time;
- (c) all Policies which: (i) have lapsed prior to the Effective Time; (ii) would, had they not lapsed prior to the Effective Time, have fallen within limb (a) or (b) of this definition; and (iii) are reinstated by the Transferee after the Effective Time; and
- (d) all proposals for insurance received by or on behalf of the Transferor before the Effective Time which: (i) have not become Policies in force at the Effective Time; (ii) would, had the

proposals become Policies in force at the Effective Time, have fallen within limb (a) or (b) of this definition; and (iii) become Policies after the Effective Time,

including (for the avoidance of doubt) any such Policies that are contracts of reinsurance;

**UK Financial Ombudsman Service** means Financial Ombudsman Service Limited, the body corporate established under paragraph 2(1) of Schedule 17 to FSMA to administer the ombudsman scheme provided for under Part XVI of FSMA;

**UKA Scheme** means the English scheme of transfer between Aviva Annuity UK Limited and the Transferor, as sanctioned by the High Court on 6 December 2016 and effective on 1 January 2017;

**UL Units** means notional units whose value or number vary by reference to the value of a Linked Fund for the purpose of calculating benefits payable under Linked Policies;

#### Unitised IWPF With-Profits Investment Element means:

- (a) in relation to a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy, the amount, calculated on the basis set out in paragraph 43.3, to be transferred into the ALPI Irish WPF following the creation on or after the Effective Time of WP Units in the ALPI Irish WPF allocated to that Policy; and
- (b) in relation to a Split IWPF With-Profits Policy means the amount, calculated on the basis set out in paragraph 43.3, to be transferred into the ALPI Irish WPF in respect of such part of the benefits under that Policy as are or are to be secured as a conventional withprofits sum assured participating in surplus;

**Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy** means any Transferred Policy under the terms of which the whole or any part of the benefits are or, if the holder of the Policy so elects, would become measured by reference to WP Units of the ALPI Irish WPF of whatever category or categories participating in surplus;

# **Unitised Transfer Value means:**

- (a) in relation to a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy, the amount, calculated on the basis set out in paragraph 43.4, to be transferred out of the ALPI Irish WPF to the Other Business Fund following the cancellation on or after the Effective Time of any WP Units allocated to such Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy (whether such units are created before, on or after the Effective Time); and
- (b) in relation to a Split IWPF With-Profits Policy, the amount, calculated on the basis set out in paragraph 43.4, to be transferred out of the Other Business Fund following the lapse, surrender or maturity of, or other event giving rise to a claim under that Policy;

**Valuation Period** means the period in respect of which any investigation is made into the financial condition of the ALPI Irish WPF by the Head of Actuarial Function in accordance with Regulatory Requirements (or, if Regulatory Requirements do not prescribe such an investigation, then such period as the Transferee's Board shall nominate provided that such investigations shall be carried out not less than once in each calendar year);

**Waiver of Premium Protection Products** means all policies sold by the Transferor prior to the Effective Time which provide cover for premium payments in the event of sickness or other incapacity;

**Wholly Reinsured Fund** means each of the ALPI Belgian Fund, the ALPI FLAS Fund, the ALPI FP Fund, the ALPI New Fund and the ALPI Old Fund;

**With-Profits Committee** means the committee of the Transferor with this name and governed by its terms of reference from time to time which, as from the Effective Time, shall (*inter alia*) exercise oversight in relation to the ALPI Irish WPF;

#### WP Part means:

- (a) in relation to a Hybrid Policy, that part of the Policy in respect of which the value of the benefits thereunder is measured by reference to with-profits investment (whether by the allocation of WP Units or otherwise), and the appropriate proportion of any guaranteed benefits in respect of that Policy (if any), as determined by the Transferee's Board having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice; and
- (b) in relation to a DC Policy, that part of any premium (including any amount derived from a rebate of charges) as has been applied or is applicable to with-profits investment (whether by the allocation of WP Units or otherwise) after any adjustment in accordance with the terms of the relevant Policy (including any Policy charges and the bid/offer spread) or the liabilities referable to such WP Units as the context shall require; and

**WP Units** means notional units whose value or number vary by reference to bonuses declared, or surpluses otherwise distributed out of, a with-profits fund for the purposes of calculating benefits payable under Policies.

## 1.2 In this Scheme:

(a) "appropriate actuarial advice" shall mean (in addition to any other relevant appropriate advice) such actuarial advice as the Transferee's Board (or, where applicable, the Transferor's Board) may determine in the context of the relevant matter (provided that, in relation to any advice received by the Transferee's Board in respect of the ALPI Irish WPF: (i) such advice must have been given having first consulted with the Head of Actuarial Function; and (ii) such advice must have taken the IWPF PPFM into account);

- (b) "holding company" and "subsidiary" shall have the same meanings as in the Companies Act 2006;
- (c) "liabilities" shall include all liabilities, claims, damages, proceedings, demands, orders, suits, costs, losses and expenses of every description, whether deriving from contract, common law, statute or otherwise, whether present or future, actual or contingent, ascertained or unascertained or disputed and whether owed or incurred severally or jointly or as principal or surety;
- (d) "property" shall include (without limitation) property, assets, rights and powers of every description (whether present or future, actual or contingent) and includes (i) property held on trust, (ii) benefits and powers of any description, and (iii) any interest whatsoever in any of the foregoing;
- (e) "transfer" shall include (as the context may require) "assign", "assignation" or "assignment", "dispose", "disposition" or "disposal", or "convey" or "conveyance";
- (f) "variation" shall include any variation, supplement, deletion, replacement or termination, however effected;
- (g) any reference to a decision of (or action by) a Board shall include a decision of (or action by) any committee or individual(s) to whom such Board has at the time delegated the authority to make that decision (or take that action), it being understood that the relevant Board shall always retain the right to delegate its authority to take any decisions (or make any actions) as required under, or permitted by, the Scheme so long as such delegation is in accordance with, and permitted by, Regulatory Requirements and the constitutional documents of the relevant company;
- (h) any reference to the singular shall include a reference to the plural and vice versa and any reference to the masculine shall include a reference to the feminine and neuter and vice versa;
- (i) any reference in this Scheme to an enactment, a statutory provision or any subordinate legislation shall be deemed to include a reference to that enactment, statutory provision or subordinate legislation as amended, replaced or re-enacted from time to time and to any instrument or order made from time to time under such enactment, statutory provision or subordinate legislation. Where such reference is to an enactment, a statutory provision or any subordinate legislation that has been repealed and not amended, replaced or re-enacted, then the Transferee's Board shall (having taken appropriate advice) determine the most appropriate replacement arrangements (if any). Such determination shall be subject to prior consultation with:
  - (i) the Head of Actuarial Function, if the matter relates to the ALPI Irish WPF; and

- (ii) an independent actuary if the matter is of a financial nature;
- (j) any reference to any rules, regulations or guidance made by the PRA, FCA and/or CBI (as applicable) shall be deemed to include a reference to such rules or regulations as amended or replaced from time to time. Where such reference is to any rules, regulations or guidance that have been repealed and not amended, replaced or reenacted, then the Transferee's Board shall (having taken appropriate advice) determine the most appropriate replacement arrangements (if any). Such determination shall be subject to prior consultation with:
  - (i) the Head of Actuarial Function, if the matter relates to the ALPI Irish WPF; and
  - (ii) an independent actuary if the matter is of a financial nature;
- (k) any reference to any regulator (including the PRA, FCA and CBI) shall be deemed to include a reference to any successor regulators;
- (I) any reference to this Scheme shall include the Schedules to it and references to paragraphs, sub-paragraphs, Parts or Schedules are to paragraphs, sub-paragraphs or Parts of or Schedules to this Scheme;
- (m) headings are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this Scheme;
- (n) any reference to a person shall include a reference to a body corporate, a partnership, an unincorporated association or to a person's executors or administrators, and for the avoidance of doubt, shall include a trustee:
- (o) unless otherwise specified, if a period of time is specified from a given day or date or from the day or date of an actual event, it shall be calculated exclusive of that day or date;
- (p) any reference to writing shall include any modes of reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form;
- (q) general words shall not be given a restrictive meaning by reason of the fact that they are followed by particular examples intended to be embraced by the general words;
- (r) any reference to an amount shall be exclusive of any applicable value added tax or other Tax; and
- (s) any reference to pounds or £ shall be to pounds sterling in the currency of the United Kingdom and any reference to Euros or € shall be to euros, being the official currency of the European Union.

#### PART B - INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS

# 2 Parties and background

- 2.1 Aviva Life & Pensions UK Limited (the "Transferor") is a company incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 03253947. The registered office of the Transferor is at Aviva, Wellington Row, York, North Yorkshire YO90 1WR. The Transferor is a "UK authorised person" as defined in section 105(8) of FSMA, with permissions to effect and to carry out contracts of long-term insurance in the UK under classes I, II, III, IV, VI and VII in Part II of Schedule 1 of the RAO.
- 2.2 Friends First Life Assurance Company Designated Activity Company (the "Transferee") is a designated activity company which was incorporated in the Republic of Ireland as a private limited company on 1 November 1990 under certificate number 165970 and under the name Friends Provident Life Assurance Company Limited. It subsequently changed its name to Friends First Life Assurance Company Limited on 20 April 1998 and converted to a designated activity company on 16 July 2016, at which time its name was changed to Friends First Life Assurance Company Designated Activity Company. The registered office of the Transferee is at Friends First House, Cherrywood Business Park, Loughlinstown, Dublin 18, Ireland. The Transferee is an insurance undertaking (as defined in Regulation 3 of the 2015 Regulations) authorised by the CBI to carry on life insurance activity in Classes 1, 3, 4 and 7 as referred to in Schedule 2 of the 2015 Regulations.
- 2.3 Following the invocation of Article 50 of the Treaty on European Union by the United Kingdom on 29 March 2017, the United Kingdom has commenced negotiations for the terms of its withdrawal from the European Union ("Brexit"). The legal terms of Brexit are not yet known, but there is a risk that, upon or shortly following Brexit, the Transferor will lose its rights under the single market directives, including the EU Solvency II Directive (Directive 2009/138/EC, as amended), to carry out Long-Term Insurance Business in other EEA States on a Freedom of Services or Freedom of Establishment basis.
- 2.4 It is therefore proposed that, subject to the sanction of the Scheme by the Court, the Transferred Business carried on by the Transferor shall, in accordance with this Scheme, be transferred to the Transferee. The Transferred Business includes, for the avoidance of doubt, some of the business that was transferred to the Transferor pursuant to the FL Schemes, the Reattribution Scheme, the Irish 2014 Scheme, the Hamilton Schemes, the UKA Scheme and/or the Peak Scheme.
- 2.5 Prior to the Effective Time, it is anticipated that the Transferee shall be capitalised to such level that the Transferee shall hold sufficient property to render the NIA Amount as £0, and that accordingly no Nominated Investment Assets shall transfer pursuant to this Scheme. However, in the absence of such prior capitalisation, Nominated Investment Assets shall be transferred

pursuant to this Scheme in order to ensure that the Transferee is adequately capitalised as at the Effective Time.

#### PART C - TRANSFER

### 3 Transfer of the Transferred Business

- 3.1 Subject to paragraph 3.2, each part of the Transferred Business shall be transferred to and be vested in the Transferee in accordance with this Scheme, so that:
  - (a) at and with effect from the Effective Time, each Day One Asset and all the interest of the Transferor in it shall, by the Order and without any further act or instrument, be transferred to and be vested in the Transferee, subject to all applicable Encumbrances affecting such property and shall cease to be the property of the Transferor;
  - (b) at and with effect from the Effective Time, each Day One Liability shall, by the Order and without any further act or instrument, be transferred to and become a liability of the Transferee and shall cease to be a liability of the Transferor;
  - (c) on and with effect from each Subsequent Transfer Date, each Deferred Transfer Asset to which such Subsequent Transfer Date applies and all the interest of the Transferor in it shall, by the Order and without further act or instrument, be transferred to and be vested in the Transferee, subject to all applicable Encumbrances affecting such property and shall cease to be the property of the Transferor; and
  - (d) on and with effect from each Subsequent Transfer Date, each Deferred Transfer Liability to which such Subsequent Transfer Date applies shall, by the Order and without any further act or instrument, be transferred to and become a liability of the Transferee and shall cease to be a liability of the Transferor.
- 3.2 The obligation of the Transferor to transfer the OLAB Premium Assets to the Transferee pursuant to this Scheme shall be set off against the obligation of the Transferee under the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement to pay the Total Back-Book Premium to the Transferor, such that: (a) the OLAB Premium Assets shall be used to settle the Total Back-Book Premium; and (b) the payment of the Total Back-Book Premium shall be satisfied by the retention of the OLAB Premium Assets by the Transferor.
- 3.3 The Transferee shall accept without investigation or requisition such title as the Transferor shall have at the Effective Time to the Day One Assets and, at any Subsequent Transfer Date, to each Deferred Transfer Asset then transferred, and the Transferor shall not be liable for any charges, expenses, costs, claims, losses or any other liabilities in connection with any Day One Asset or Deferred Transfer Asset that arise after the Effective Time, save as otherwise agreed between the parties in writing (including under any agreement existing as at the Effective Time between the Transferor and the Transferee) or as set out in this Scheme.

- 3.4 The Transferor and the Transferee shall take all such steps, and execute all such documents, as may be necessary or desirable:
  - (a) to effect and/or perfect the transfer to and vesting in the Transferee of each Transferred Asset pursuant to this Scheme;
  - (b) to correct any errors in the identity or amount of the property so transferred; and
  - (c) to effect and/or perfect the transfer to and assumption by the Transferee of each Transferred Liability pursuant to this Scheme.
- 3.5 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the Transferee shall succeed to all rights, liabilities and obligations of the Transferor in respect of any personal data which relates to the Transferred Business, and in any consent given by a data subject in respect of such data, any reference to the Transferor (or to any members of the Transferor's Group) shall be deemed to include a reference to the Transferee (and to any members of the Transferee's Group). For the avoidance of doubt, this paragraph shall override any statutory or contractual requirements in relation to such personal data.
- 3.6 Following the transfer of a Transferred Policy to the Transferee pursuant to this Scheme:
  - (a) if such Policy was, prior to such transfer, effected and carried out by the Transferor out of its branch in the Republic of Ireland on a Freedom of Establishment basis, then such Policy shall be effected and carried out by the Transferee in the Republic of Ireland as its Home State, on neither a Freedom of Services basis nor a Freedom of Establishment basis;
  - (b) if such Policy was, prior to such transfer, effected and carried out by the Transferor out of its branch in France on a Freedom of Establishment basis, then such Policy shall be effected and carried out by the Transferee out of the Transferee's branch in France on a Freedom of Establishment basis (and, if the Transferee does not have a branch in France, on a Freedom of Services basis):
  - (c) if such Policy was, prior to such transfer, effected and carried out by the Transferor out of its branch in Belgium on a Freedom of Establishment basis, then such Policy shall be effected and carried out by the Transferee out of the Transferee's branch in Belgium on a Freedom of Establishment basis (and, if the Transferee does not have a branch in Belgium, on a Freedom of Services basis);
  - (d) in the case of all other such Policies, such Policy shall be effected and carried out by the Transferee in the relevant EEA State on a Freedom of Services basis.
- 3.7 For the avoidance of doubt, and without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 3.1:

- (a) an offer or invitation to treat made to or by the Transferor prior to the Effective Time in relation to the Transferred Business shall be construed and have effect after the Effective Time as an offer or invitation to treat made to or by the Transferee;
- (b) any existing indemnity, power of attorney, authority, declaration or consent given to or by the Transferor relating to any part of the Transferred Business (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Transferred Policies) shall have effect from the Effective Time as if given to or by the Transferee;
- (c) any Transferred Asset which was held by the Transferor (whether alone or jointly with others) as a trustee, custodian or in a similar fiduciary capacity shall, with effect from the Effective Time (or relevant Subsequent Transfer Date, as the case may be), be held by the Transferee (alone or jointly, as the case may be, and in the capacity of a trustee, custodian or in a similar fiduciary capacity, as the case may be) subject to the rights, powers and duties previously applicable to the relevant trust, custodian or other fiduciary arrangement in question;
- (d) any security in respect of the Transferred Business held immediately prior to the Effective Time by the Transferor, or by a nominee or agent of or a trustee for the Transferor, as security for the payment or discharge of any liability shall, on and from that day be held by the Transferee (or by that nominee, agent or trustee for the Transferee, as the case may be) and be available to the Transferee (whether for its own benefit or for the benefit of any other person) as security for the payment or discharge of that liability; and
- (e) the Transferee shall be entitled to rely on and enforce any consent, waiver, representation, statement or estoppel given or made to the Transferor by a person in relation to the Transferred Business prior to the Effective Time as though such consent, waiver, representation, statement or estoppel had been given or made to the Transferee and to the same extent that the Transferor would have been able to rely on or enforce the same.
- 3.8 To the extent that any provisions of the FL English Scheme apply to any Deferred Transfer Business, those provisions shall continue to apply in respect of such Deferred Business until the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date.

# 4 Continuity of Proceedings

- 4.1 At and with effect from the Effective Time and subject to any Regulatory Requirements, any Proceedings (other than Outstanding Ombudsman Proceedings) which:
  - (a) have been commenced prior to the Effective Time, or which are commenced at or after the Effective Time, against the Transferor; and

(b) would give rise to a Day One Liability in the event of the Proceedings being resolved in the claimant's favour,

shall be continued or commenced against the Transferee and the Transferee shall be entitled to all defences, claims, counterclaims, settlements, rights of set-off, rights of subrogation and any other rights that would have been available to the Transferor in relation to such Proceedings.

- 4.2 At and with effect from the Effective Time and subject to any Regulatory Requirements, any Proceedings (other than Outstanding Ombudsman Proceedings) which:
  - (a) have been commenced prior to the Effective Time, or which are commenced at or after the Effective Time, by the Transferor; and
  - (b) would give rise to a Day One Asset in the event of the Proceedings being resolved in the Transferor's favour,

shall be continued or commenced by the Transferee and the Transferee shall be entitled to all defences, claims, counterclaims, settlements, rights of set-off, rights of subrogation and any other rights that would have been available to the Transferor in relation to such Proceedings.

- 4.3 Any judgment, settlement, order or award obtained by or against the Transferor whether before or after the Effective Time to the extent that it relates to any part of the Day One Business and which is not fully satisfied before the Effective Time shall, on that date and to the extent to which it was enforceable by or against the Transferor immediately prior to such date (or, if later, the date on which the judgment, settlement, or award is obtained), become enforceable by or against the Transferee (to the exclusion of the Transferor).
- 4.4 All documents which would before the Effective Time have been evidence in respect of Proceedings referred to in paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 for or against the Transferor shall from the Effective Time be evidence in respect of the same matter for or against the Transferee.
- At and from the Effective Time, the Transferee shall owe to the policyholders of the Transferred Business and/or to any other relevant person(s) the same duties of confidentiality and privacy (whether pursuant to Regulatory Requirements or contract) as those which the Transferor owed in respect of the Transferred Business immediately prior to the Effective Time.
- 4.6 At and from the Effective Time, any Proceedings in respect of the Day One Business that are commenced in error against the Transferor shall be deemed to have been commenced and shall continue against the Transferee without the need for further order, whether for substitution of the parties or otherwise.
- 4.7 The provisions of paragraphs 4.1 to 4.6 inclusive shall also apply mutatis mutandis to all Proceedings in relation to Deferred Transfer Business (with references to the Effective Time

amended to the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date and references to Day One Liabilities, Day One Assets and Day One Business amended to, respectively, Deferred Transfer Liabilities, Deferred Transfer Assets and Deferred Transfer Business).

- 4.8 Any Outstanding Ombudsman Proceedings in existence at the Effective Time shall continue after the Effective Time against the Transferor and the Transferor shall be entitled to all defences, claims, counterclaims, settlements, rights of set-off, rights of subrogation and any other rights that would have been available to the Transferor in relation to such Proceedings prior to the Effective Time.
- 4.9 In respect of any Proceedings which are commenced after the Effective Time against the Transferee in respect of acts or omissions of the Transferor in connection with Transferred Business prior to the Effective Time, the Transferee undertakes to:
  - (a) comply with the relevant provisions of the Dispute Resolution: Complaints ("DISP") Sourcebook of the FCA Handbook that would apply to the handling of any complaints brought to the UK Financial Ombudsman Service as such rules apply at the Effective Time and insofar as they apply to the Transferee's handling of complaints (i) brought by holders of Transferred Policies against the Transferee in connection with the actions of the Transferor prior to the Effective Time; and (ii) referred to the UK Financial Ombudsman Service; and
  - (b) comply promptly with any valid award or direction made by the UK Financial Ombudsman Service against the Transferee under the jurisdiction of the UK Financial Ombudsman Service and with any settlement which the Transferee agrees with a complainant at an earlier stage of the procedures as set out in DISP 3 of the FCA Handbook, as such rules and such jurisdiction apply at the Effective Time,

to the extent that such compliance is compatible with any rules or regulations issued by the CBI that are applicable to the Transferee.

4.10 Notwithstanding paragraph 52, holders of Transferred Policies may enforce the provisions of paragraph 4.9(b) against the Transferee. Neither the Transferor nor the Transferee shall require the consent of any such policyholder to amend this Scheme pursuant to paragraph 49.

# 5 Treatment of Transferred Policies

- At and with effect from the Effective Time, the Transferee shall become entitled to all the rights, benefits and powers of the Transferor whatsoever under or in connection with the Day One Policies.
- 5.2 Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 5.1, where the benefits of any Transferred Policy are held under the terms of a trust for the policyholder or any other person, such terms

(together with the terms of any rules applicable to any pension scheme in the case of any pension scheme under which benefits are referable to a Day One Policy) shall operate and be construed at and from the Effective Time on a basis which is consistent with the transfer of such Day One Policy in accordance with the provisions of this Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt:

- (a) where the consent of the Transferor is required under any such terms, the consent of the Transferee shall, with effect from the Effective Time, instead be treated as required; and
- (b) where a power to appoint trustees under such terms is conferred on the Transferor, that power shall, with effect from the Effective Time, instead be treated as conferred on the Transferee.
- 5.3 Any person who is a policyholder of any of the Day One Policies shall at and with effect from the Effective Time become entitled, in succession to, and to the exclusion of, any rights which he may have had against the Transferor under any of the Day One Policies to the same rights against the Transferee subject to the terms of this Scheme as were available to him against the Transferor under such Policies and (as regards Day One Policies under which premiums or other sums attributable or referable thereto continue to be payable) shall at and with effect from the Effective Time account to the Transferee for any further or additional premiums or other sums attributable or referable thereto as and when the same become due and payable.

### 5.4 At and with effect from the Effective Time:

- (a) any Day One Policy that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, entitled the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "Belgian SF" maintained by the Transferor shall be deemed to continue to entitle the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "Belgian SF" maintained by the Transferor without deduction or adjustment by the Transferee (and not to participate or share in any profits, losses or established surplus of the ALPI Belgian Fund or any other ALPI Fund) with all payments to the policyholder continuing to be as determined by the "Belgian SF" maintained by the Transferor;
- (b) any Day One Policy that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, entitled the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "FLAS With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor shall be deemed to continue to entitle the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "FLAS With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor without deduction or adjustment by the Transferee (and not to participate or share in any profits, losses or established surplus of the ALPI FLAS Fund or any other ALPI Fund) with all payments to the policyholder continuing to be as determined by the "FLAS With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor;

- (c) any Day One Policy that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, entitled the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "FP With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor shall be deemed to continue to entitle the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "FP With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor without deduction or adjustment by the Transferee (and not to participate or share in any profits, losses or established surplus of the ALPI FP Fund or any other ALPI Fund) with all payments to the policyholder continuing to be as determined by the "FP With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor;
- (d) any Day One Policy that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, entitled the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "New With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor shall be deemed to continue to entitle the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "New With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor without deduction or adjustment by the Transferee (and not to participate or share in any profits, losses or established surplus of the ALPI New Fund or any other ALPI Fund) with all payments to the policyholder continuing to be as determined by the "New With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
- (e) any Day One Policy that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, entitled the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "Old With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor shall be deemed to continue to entitle the policyholder to participate or share in any profits or established surplus of the "Old With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor without deduction or adjustment by the Transferee (and not to participate or share in any profits, losses or established surplus of the ALPI Old Fund or any other ALPI Fund) with all payments to the policyholder continuing to be as determined by the "Old With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor.
- 5.5 If any person exercises any right or option granted at law or under the terms of a Day One Policy and either:
  - (a) the right or option provides for a new, additional or replacement Policy to be issued; or
  - (b) it is appropriate, in the opinion of the Transferee, to issue a new Policy in order to comply with that right or option,

such person shall be entitled to require that the obligation thereby arising shall be satisfied by the issue by the Transferee of a Policy which complies with the terms of such right or option, but (without prejudice to the right of such person to have the right or option satisfied by the issue by the Transferee of such a Policy) if the Transferee is not at the time of the exercise of such right or option writing Policies complying exactly with the Policy to which the right or option refers, the Transferee shall be entitled to offer to such person as an alternative (and, if accepted, in lieu thereof) a Policy commonly offered by the Transferee (or any other member of the Transferee's Group) which the Transferee considers to be the nearest equivalent Policy by reference to the terms and conditions applicable to Policies of the Transferee at that time, provided that the issue of such alternative Policy would not, in the opinion of the Transferee's Board (having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice) result in a liability or in an increase in liability to Tax of the holder of such Policy (or, in the event that such liability or increase in liability would occur, the Transferee shall have the option to indemnify the policyholder in full and to issue, or procure the issue by another member of the Transferee's Group of another Policy pursuant to this paragraph 5.5) or otherwise fail to satisfy the reasonable expectations of the holder of such Policy.

- All references in any Day One Policy to the Transferor or any officers, employees, committees, function holders or agents of the Transferor shall from and after the Effective Time be read as references to the Transferee or any officers, employees, committees or function holders of the Transferee or agents of the Transferee to which the administration of the relevant part of the business carried on by the Transferee has been delegated (as appropriate). In particular, but without limitation, all rights and duties exercisable or expressed to be exercisable or responsibilities to be performed by the Transferor or any officers, employees, committees, function holders or agents of the Transferor in relation to any of the Day One Policies shall, from and after the Effective Time, be exercisable or required to be performed by the Transferee or any officers, employees, committees, function holders or agents of the Transferee.
- 5.7 The transfer of any rights, benefits, liabilities and obligations under or in connection with any Day One Policy pursuant to this Scheme shall take effect and shall be valid and binding on all parties having any interest in the same notwithstanding any restriction howsoever arising (including but not limited to, at law, in equity, tort or by contract) on transferring, assigning or otherwise dealing with the same and such transfer shall be deemed to take effect on the basis that it does not contravene any such restriction and does not give rise to any right to terminate, modify, acquire or claim an interest or right, or to treat an interest or right as terminated or modified or to treat any obligations or liabilities as discharged, modified or released.
- Save as may otherwise be agreed between the Transferor and the Transferee from time to time, the Transferee shall at and from the Effective Time, as principal, take over from the Transferor the administration and negotiation of proposals for insurance which would become Day One Policies if the Transferee determined to accept them (but whether or not the Transferee does so determine). The Transferee shall bear all expenses and liabilities in relation thereto. Nothing contained herein shall oblige the Transferee to accept any proposal for insurance received by or on behalf of the Transferor before the Effective Time but not accepted by the Transferor by the Effective Time.

- 5.9 All references in a Day One Policy to the group of companies of which the Transferor is or has been a member shall, where the context requires, be (or continue to be) read and construed with effect from the Effective Time as references to the group of companies of which the Transferee is a member from time to time.
- 5.10 The Transferee shall be entitled to any defences, claims, counterclaims, rights of set-off, rights of subrogation and any other rights under the Day One Policies which would have been available to the Transferor.
- 5.11 The provisions of paragraphs 5.1 to 5.10 inclusive shall also apply *mutatis mutandis* to all Deferred Transfer Policies (with references to the Effective Time amended to the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date).

### 6 Treatment of Transferred Contracts

- At and with effect from the Effective Time, the Transferee shall become entitled to all the rights, benefits and powers of the Transferor whatsoever under or in connection with the Day One Contracts.
- Any person who is a counterparty of any of the Day One Contracts shall at and with effect from the Effective Time (but subject to the terms of this Scheme) become entitled, in succession to, and to the exclusion of, any rights which he may have had against the Transferor under any of the Day One Contracts to the same rights against the Transferee as were available to him against the Transferor under such Day One Contracts.
- 6.3 All references in any Day One Contract to the Transferor or any officers, employees or agents of the Transferor shall from and after the Effective Time be read as references to the Transferee or any officers or employees of the Transferee or agents of the Transferee to which the administration of the relevant part of the business carried on by the Transferee has been delegated (as appropriate). In particular, but without limitation, all rights and duties exercisable or expressed to be exercisable or responsibilities to be performed by the Transferor or any officers, employees or agents of the Transferor in relation to any of the Day One Contracts shall, from and after the Effective Time, be exercisable or required to be performed by the Transferee or any officers, employees or agents of the Transferee.
- The transfer of any rights, benefits, liabilities and obligations under or in connection with any Day One Contract pursuant to this Scheme shall take effect and shall be valid and binding on all parties having any interest in the same notwithstanding any restriction howsoever arising (including but not limited to, at law, in equity, tort or by contract) on transferring, assigning or otherwise dealing with the same and such transfer shall be deemed to take effect on the basis that it does not contravene any such restriction and does not give rise to any right to terminate,

modify, acquire or claim an interest or right, or to treat an interest or right as terminated or modified or to treat any obligations or liabilities as discharged, modified or released.

- All references in a Day One Contract to the group of companies of which the Transferor is or has been a member shall, where the context requires, be (or continue to be) read and construed with effect from the Effective Time as references to the group of companies of which the Transferee is a member from time to time.
- 6.6 The Transferee shall be entitled to any defences, claims, counterclaims, rights of set-off, rights of subrogation and any other rights under the Day One Contracts which would have been available to the Transferor.
- 6.7 The provisions of paragraphs 6.1 to 6.6 inclusive shall also apply *mutatis mutandis* to all Deferred Transfer Contracts (with references to the Effective Time amended to the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date).

# 7 Premiums, mandates and other payments

- 7.1 All premiums payable to the Transferor in respect of the Day One Policies shall at and with effect from the Effective Time be payable to the Transferee.
- 7.2 Save as otherwise agreed by the Transferor and Transferee, any mandate or other instruction in force at the Effective Time (including, without limitation, any instruction given to a bank by its customer in the form of a direct debit or standing order) and providing for the payment by a banker or other intermediary of premiums payable to the Transferor under or in respect of any of the Day One Policies or Day One Contracts shall thereafter take effect as if it had provided for and authorised such payment to the Transferee.
- 7.3 Any mandate or other instruction in force at the Effective Time as to the manner of payment of any sum payable by the Transferor under any of the Day One Policies or Day One Contracts shall, at and with effect from the Effective Time, continue in force as an effective authority to the Transferee in place of the Transferor.
- 7.4 The provisions of paragraphs 7.1 to 7.3 inclusive shall also apply *mutatis mutandis* to all Deferred Transfer Policies and Deferred Transfer Contracts (with references to the Effective Time amended to the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date).

# 8 Declaration of trust and wrong pocket

8.1 The Transferor shall, from the Effective Time until the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date, hold the Deferred Transfer Business as trustee for the Transferee. The Transferor shall be subject to the Transferee's directions in respect of the Deferred Transfer Business, until such part of the Deferred Transfer Business is transferred to or otherwise vested in the Transferee (or is

disposed of, whereupon the Transferor shall account to the Transferee for the proceeds of sale thereof). The Transferee shall have the authority (with authority to sub-delegate) to act as the attorney of the Transferor in respect of the Deferred Transfer Business until the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date for all such purposes. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this paragraph 8.1, where such Deferred Transfer Business constitutes, is attributable to or is connected with a Deferred Transfer Policy that would have been reinsured to the Transferor pursuant to the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement were it a Day One Policy, the Transferee's right to provide directions and act as attorney in relation to such Deferred Transfer Business shall, for the duration of the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement, be no greater than what its right would have been were the relevant Policy Day One Business and subject to the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement.

- 8.2 In the event of any property being received by the Transferor after the Effective Time in respect of the Transferred Business which does not comprise Deferred Transfer Business, the Transferor shall, as soon as is reasonably practicable after its receipt and to the extent to which it is able to do so, transfer such property to, or in accordance with the directions of, the Transferee.
- 8.3 In the event of any property being received by the Transferor after the Effective Time in respect of Deferred Transfer Business, the Transferor shall hold such property as trustee for the Transferee in accordance with paragraph 8.1.
- 8.4 The Transferee shall indemnify the Transferor against any reasonable out-of-pocket charges, costs, expenses, claims and other liabilities arising in respect of any obligation under or in connection with this paragraph 8.

## 9 Indemnities in favour of the Transferor

- 9.1 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the Transferee shall discharge on the Transferor's behalf or, failing that, shall indemnify the Transferor against:
  - (a) any charges, costs, expenses, claims and other liabilities arising in respect of the Transferred Business: and
  - (b) any charges, costs, expenses and claims arising in respect of any relevant Third Party Rights continued by the Transferor in accordance with the instructions of the Transferee (subject to which the Transferor shall take such steps as the Transferee shall require in order to pursue such Third Party Rights).
- 9.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Transferee shall not be required under paragraph 9.1 to discharge or indemnify the Transferor for:

- (a) any liability if and to the extent that such liability is the subject of an indemnity from any third party in favour of the Transferor (including by way of insurance) or a claim or right against any third party which has not transferred to the Transferee as part of the Transferred Business (a "Third Party Right"), unless, and then only to the extent that, the Transferor shall have failed to recover any such amount pursuant to such Third Party Right;
- (b) any Excluded Liabilities; or
- (c) any charges, costs, expenses and claims or any other liabilities arising in respect of any Excluded Liabilities.
- 9.3 Where the Transferor is entitled to receive an amount pursuant to an indemnity contained in paragraph 8.4 or 9.1, it shall be entitled to receive such amount as, after payment of or provision for any liability to Tax in respect of the amount receivable, will result in the receipt of an amount equal to the value of the liability to be indemnified against.
- 9.4 The costs incurred by the Transferee in discharging on the Transferor's behalf, or indemnifying the Transferor against, liabilities in accordance with paragraph 8.4 or 9.1 shall be allocated to and discharged out of the property of the relevant ALPI Fund to which the liability giving rise to the payment of the indemnity has been, or will be, allocated in accordance with Part D of this Scheme.
- 9.5 The Transferor shall indemnify the Transferee against all liabilities, losses, claims and expenses in respect of the Transferred Liabilities:
  - (a) to the extent that they are otherwise recoverable by the Transferor pursuant to a Third Party Right; or
  - (b) in connection with any defect (whether in title or otherwise) in relation to, or any diminution in the value of, any property transferred to the Transferee to the extent that the loss resulting therefrom is recoverable pursuant to a Third Party Right,

provided that the indemnity in this paragraph 9.5 shall be limited to such amounts as the Transferor shall recover pursuant to such Third Party Right (net of the costs of any such recovery, including as to Tax).

### 10 Indemnity in favour of the Transferee

10.1 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the Transferor shall discharge on the Transferee's behalf or, failing that, shall indemnify the Transferee against all any charges, costs, expenses, claims and other liabilities arising in respect of the Excluded Assets, Excluded Liabilities,

Excluded Contracts or any other part of the business of the Transferor that does not form part of the Transferred Business.

### 11 Determination of the NIA Amount and the Nominated Investment Assets

11.1 The Transferor and the Transferee shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 3 in relation to the determination of the NIA Amount and the Nominated Investment Assets.

# 12 Balancing Amount

On a date selected by the Transferor which is no more than twelve (12) months after the Effective Time, the Transferor shall, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, determine and certify the "Balancing Amount", being an amount equal to:

$$A - (B + C)$$

where:

- (a) **A** = the Capitalisation Amount;
- (b) B = the aggregate value, as at the Effective Time, of the Nominated Investment Assets; and
- (c) C = the aggregate value of any capital contributions made by the Transferor to the Transferee between the Effective Time and the date selected by the Transferor pursuant to this paragraph 12.1, in respect of which the Transferor has notified the Transferee in writing that such capital contributions shall be taken into account for the purposes of calculating the Balancing Amount.
- 12.2 On and with effect from the Balancing Assets Transfer Date:
  - (a) if the Balancing Amount is negative, then the Balancing Assets and all interest of the Transferee therein shall, by the Order and without any further act or instrument, be transferred from the Other Business Fund to, and be vested in, either the "Non-Profit Sub-Fund" or the "Shareholder Fund" (as the Transferor shall elect) maintained by the Transferor (subject to all Encumbrances (if any) affecting such Balancing Assets); or
  - (b) if the Balancing Amount is positive, then the Balancing Assets and all interest of the Transferor therein shall, by the Order and without any further act or instrument, be transferred from either the "Non-Profit Sub-Fund" or the "Shareholder Fund" (as the Transferor shall elect) maintained by the Transferor to, and be vested in, the Other Business Fund (subject to all Encumbrances (if any) affecting such Balancing Assets).

#### PART D - FUND ALLOCATION

### 13 Establishment and maintenance of the ALPI Funds

- 13.1 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the Transferee shall establish and maintain as separate funds (subject to the terms of this Scheme):
  - (a) the ALPI Belgian Fund as a new fund;
  - (b) the ALPI FLAS Fund as a new fund;
  - (c) the ALPI FP Fund as a new fund;
  - (d) the ALPI Irish WPF as a new with-profits fund;
  - (e) the ALPI New Fund as a new fund; and
  - (f) the ALPI Old Fund as a new fund.
- At and with effect from the Effective Time, the Transferee shall continue to maintain as separate funds (subject to the terms of this Scheme and the Existing Transferee Schemes):
  - (a) the Closed Fund as a with-profits fund;
  - (b) the Other Business Fund; and
  - (c) the Participating Fund as a with-profits fund.
- 13.3 At the Effective Time, the shareholder assets and liabilities of the Transferee shall be allocated to the ALPI SHF and, for so long as required by Regulatory Requirements and to meet the operational requirements of this Scheme, the Transferee shall maintain the ALPI SHF.
- 13.4 Subject to compliance with Regulatory Requirements, nothing in this Scheme shall prevent the Transferee from establishing further ALPI Funds in relation to its Long-Term Insurance Business at any time after the Effective Time as the Transferee's Board may determine and, subject to any restrictions in this Scheme, allocating new Policies or re-allocating Day One Policies or Deferred Transfer Policies to such ALPI Funds.

### 14 Allocation of Day One Policies and Day One Contracts

- 14.1 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI Belgian Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Policies and Day One Contracts which were, immediately prior to the Effective Time, allocated to the "Belgian SF" maintained by the Transferor; and

- (b) the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement, to the extent that it provides reinsurance of liabilities allocated to the ALPI Belgian Fund.
- 14.2 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI FLAS Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Policies and Day One Contracts which were, immediately prior to the Effective Time, allocated to the "FLAS With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement, to the extent that it provides reinsurance of liabilities allocated to the ALPI FLAS Fund.
- 14.3 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI FP Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Policies and Day One Contracts which were, immediately prior to the Effective Time, allocated to the "FP With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement, to the extent that it provides reinsurance of liabilities allocated to the ALPI FP Fund.
- At and with effect from the Effective Time, all of the Day One Policies and Day One Contracts which were, immediately prior to the Effective Time, allocated to the "Irish With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor shall be allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF.
- 14.5 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI New Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Policies and Day One Contracts which were, immediately prior to the Effective Time, allocated to the "New With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement, to the extent that it provides reinsurance of liabilities allocated to the ALPI New Fund.
- 14.6 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI Old Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Policies and Day One Contracts which were, immediately prior to the Effective Time, allocated to the "Old With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement, to the extent that it provides reinsurance of liabilities allocated to the ALPI Old Fund.

- 14.7 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the Other Business Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Policies and Day One Contracts which were, immediately prior to the Effective Time, allocated to the "Non-Profit Sub-Fund" or the "Shareholder Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement, to the extent that it provides reinsurance of liabilities allocated to the Other Business Fund.

## 15 Allocation of Day One Assets

- 15.1 At and with effect from the Effective Time, Day One Assets that are Irish Branch IWPSF Assets shall be allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF.
- 15.2 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the Other Business Fund:
  - (a) Day One Assets that are Irish Branch NPSF Assets; and
  - (b) Day One Assets that are Nominated Investment Assets.

## 16 Allocation of Day One Liabilities

- At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI Belgian Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Liabilities which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were allocated to the "Belgian SF" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the liability to indemnify the Transferor pursuant to paragraph 8.4 or 9.1 to the extent that the liability or property to which such indemnity relates is allocated to the ALPI Belgian Fund pursuant to this Scheme.
- 16.2 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI FLAS Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Liabilities which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were allocated to the "FLAS With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the liability to indemnify the Transferor pursuant to paragraph 8.4 or 9.1 to the extent that the liability or property to which such indemnity relates is allocated to the ALPI FLAS Fund pursuant to this Scheme.
- 16.3 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI FP Fund:

- (a) all of the Day One Liabilities which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were allocated to the "FP With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
- (b) the liability to indemnify the Transferor pursuant to paragraph 8.4 or 9.1 to the extent that the liability or property to which such indemnity relates is allocated to the ALPI FP Fund pursuant to this Scheme.
- 16.4 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF:
  - (a) all of the Day One Liabilities which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were allocated to the "Irish With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the liability to indemnify the Transferor pursuant to paragraph 8.4 or 9.1 to the extent that the liability or property to which such indemnity relates is allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF pursuant to this Scheme.
- At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI New Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Liabilities which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were allocated to the "New With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the liability to indemnify the Transferor pursuant to paragraph 8.4 or 9.1 to the extent that the liability or property to which such indemnity relates is allocated to the ALPI New Fund pursuant to this Scheme.
- 16.6 At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the ALPI Old Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Liabilities which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were allocated to the "Old With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and
  - (b) the liability to indemnify the Transferor pursuant to paragraph 8.4 or 9.1 to the extent that the liability or property to which such indemnity relates is allocated to the ALPI Old Fund pursuant to this Scheme.
- At and with effect from the Effective Time, the following shall be allocated to the Other Business Fund:
  - (a) all of the Day One Liabilities which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were allocated to the "Non-Profit Sub-Fund" or the "Shareholder Fund" maintained by the Transferor; and

(b) the liability to indemnify the Transferor pursuant to paragraph 8.4 or 9.1 to the extent that the liability or property to which such indemnity relates is allocated to the Other Business Fund pursuant to this Scheme.

### 17 Allocation of Deferred Transfer Business

- 17.1 On and with effect from each Subsequent Transfer Date:
  - (a) each Deferred Transfer Policy and Deferred Transfer Contract applicable to such Subsequent Transfer Date shall be allocated to the ALPI Fund to which it would have been allocated to at the Effective Time in accordance with paragraph 14, had it been a Day One Policy or Day One Contract;
  - (b) each Deferred Transfer Asset applicable to such Subsequent Transfer Date shall be allocated to the ALPI Fund to which it would have been allocated to at the Effective Time in accordance with paragraph 15, had it been a Day One Asset; and
  - (c) each Deferred Transfer Liability applicable to such Subsequent Transfer Date shall be allocated to the ALPI Fund to which it would have been allocated to at the Effective Time in accordance with paragraph 16, had it been a Day One Liability.

## 18 Allocation of Existing Transferee Assets and Liabilities at the Effective Time

- 18.1 All Existing Transferee Policies, Existing Transferee Assets and Existing Transferee Liabilities to the extent allocated to an ALPI FF Fund immediately prior to the Effective Time shall remain allocated to that same ALPI FF Fund at the Effective Time.
- 18.2 Existing Transferee Assets and Existing Transferee Liabilities allocated to or comprising an interest in Linked Funds of the Transferee immediately prior to the Effective Time shall remain allocated to and remain interested in such Linked Funds as of the Effective Time. Benefits under Existing Transferee Policies that are linked long-term contracts shall remain linked to the same Linked Funds as before and shall be allocated with the same number and class of units in such Linked Fund(s) as were allocated to such Existing Transferee Policies immediately prior to the Effective Time.

### 19 Establishment of Linked Funds

- 19.1 At and with effect from the Effective Time, any Day One Assets or Day One Liabilities which have been allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF or the Other Business Fund pursuant to paragraphs 14, 15, 16 or 17 and which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were allocated to a Linked Fund maintained by the Transferor, shall:
  - (a) be allocated to and comprised in a new Linked Fund established by the Transferee within the ALPI Fund to which such Day One Assets or Day One Liabilities were allocated; and

- (b) immediately following the Effective Time, comprise the same number and value of units as were comprised within the relevant Linked Fund of the Transferor immediately prior to the Effective Time.
- 19.2 At and with effect from the Effective Time (but only in respect of Day One Policies that are not reinsured to the Transferor pursuant to the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement):
  - (a) any policyholder rights, powers or benefits under any Day One Policy which, immediately prior to the Effective Time, were linked to any one or more Linked Fund(s) of the Transferor shall become linked to the corresponding Linked Fund(s) of the Transferee;
  - (b) the Transferee shall, as at the Effective Time, allocate to each such Day One Policy the same number and classes of units in the corresponding new Linked Fund(s) of the Transferee as the number and classes of units in the relevant Linked Fund(s) of the Transferor as were allocated to such Day One Policy immediately prior to the Effective Time; and
  - (c) in respect of any such Day One Policies, the Transferee shall become entitled to the same rights, powers and benefits and be subject to the same duties and liabilities as applied to the Transferor in relation to the corresponding Linked Fund(s) immediately prior to the Effective Time.
- 19.3 On and with effect from each Subsequent Transfer Date, each Deferred Transfer Asset or Deferred Transfer Liability applicable to such Subsequent Transfer Date shall (if applicable) be allocated to the Linked Fund(s) to which it would have been allocated to at the Effective Time in accordance with paragraph 19.1, had it been a Day One Asset or Day One Liability (as applicable).
- The provisions of paragraph 19.2 shall also apply *mutatis mutandis* to Deferred Transfer Policies that are not reinsured to the Transferor pursuant to the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement (with references to the Effective Time amended to the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date).
- 19.5 The Board of the Transferee may, having taken account of appropriate advice (and subject to the terms of the Existing Transferee Schemes):
  - (a) open new Linked Funds;
  - (b) close existing Linked Funds;
  - (c) amalgamate, reinsure or transfer any Linked Fund or any part thereof with or to (as the context requires) any other Linked Fund or any part thereof (whether established and maintained by the Transferee or another member of the Transferee's Group);
  - (d) divide any Linked Fund into one or more Linked Funds; or

- (e) effect any combination of the aforesaid.
- 19.6 Units in a Linked Fund held by an ALPI Fund may be held or purchased by the Transferee for any purpose, including to ensure that liabilities arising in respect of any Linked Policy which is allocated or reinsured to that ALPI Fund are matched by Linked Fund Assets of that ALPI Fund.
- 19.7 Linked Fund Assets may be held in a Linked Fund for the benefit of any ALPI Fund, including the Other Business Fund, and such ALPI Funds may each hold an interest in the same Linked Fund.

### 20 General provisions in respect of ALPI Fund allocation

- If any doubt or difference shall arise as to the allocation or attribution of any Transferred Policy, Transferred Contract, Transferred Asset, Transferred Liability, Existing Transferee Policy, Existing Transferee Asset or Existing Transferee Liability in accordance with this Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, the same shall be determined by the Transferee's Board, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice. Any reallocation of Transferred Policies affecting the Wholly Reinsured Funds which requires an amendment to any internal reinsurance arrangements in place in respect of such Transferred Policies, or which requires an amendment to the allocation of Policies within the Transferor, shall require the agreement of the Transferor's Board.
- Any allocation of property or liabilities to an ALPI Fund from time to time, and any re-allocation or re-attribution of the same, is for the purpose of establishing or recognising respective policyholder and shareholder entitlements from time to time and shall not be taken to affect the availability of all the property from time to time of the Transferee to meet its liabilities to policyholders and other third parties to the extent required by Regulatory Requirements from time to time.
- 20.3 The provisions of this Scheme shall apply on the basis that the expression "Transferred Policy" shall include, at any time, any constituent part of a Transferred Policy which, in the opinion of the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, gives rise to any separately identifiable benefit (including, for the avoidance of doubt and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, any constituent part providing insurance cover against the risk of death, accident or serious illness). The Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, shall be entitled in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph 20.3 to allocate to and include in the ALPI Irish WPF such of the constituent part or parts of a Transferred Policy as are capable of being so allocated and included and the remaining constituent part or parts shall be allocated to and included in the Other Business Fund or such other ALPI Fund (other than the ALPI Irish WPF) as the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, shall determine.

- 20.4 If the Transferee's Board considers that any allocation of property or liabilities to any of the ALPI Funds pursuant to this Part D is inequitable in any respect, such allocation may be amended provided that:
  - (a) the Transferee's Board, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee, considers that the proposed amendment shall not materially adversely affect the interest of the holders of any Transferred Policies or Existing Transferee Policies; and
  - (b) the Transferee's Board has notified the CBI in writing of the proposed changes and the CBI has not objected thereto within two (2) months of the relevant notification.
- The allocation(s) of property and liabilities pursuant to this Scheme are subject to any contrary Regulatory Requirements and the Transferee shall comply with the provisions of this Scheme insofar as is possible within the constraints imposed by such Regulatory Requirements.
- 20.6 The Transferee's Board may, at any time, change the name of any of the ALPI Funds established pursuant to this Scheme to such other name as it thinks fit, and the provisions of this Scheme shall automatically be modified to take account of any such change.

#### PART E - OPERATION OF THE ALPI FUNDS

## 21 Allocation of continuing business

- 21.1 The Transferee shall allocate premiums or increments receivable:
  - (a) at or after the Effective Time in respect of a Day One Policy; and
  - (b) on or after the relevant Subsequent Transfer Date in respect of a Deferred Transfer Policy,

to the ALPI Fund to which such Day One Policy or Deferred Transfer Policy is allocated pursuant to Part D of this Scheme.

- 21.2 Subject to paragraph 21.3, the Transferee shall treat any Policy which comes into force at or after the Effective Time as a result of:
  - (a) an option or right contained in any Transferred Policy; or
  - (b) as a result of any offer made by the Transferor to the holder of a Transferred Policy,

as if it were a New Policy for the purposes of its allocation to an ALPI Fund and shall allocate such a Policy in accordance with paragraph 22.

- 21.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 21.2:
  - (a) where the terms of any such option or right contained in any Transferred Policy require the New Policy that comes into force pursuant to such option or right to be allocated to the same ALPI Fund as the original Transferred Policy, the New Policy shall be allocated accordingly; and
  - (b) increments to Policies shall be allocated to the same ALPI Fund as the Policy to which they relate.

### 22 Allocation of New Policies

- 22.1 Subject to paragraphs 22.2 and 22.3, the Transferee shall allocate New Policies to such ALPI Fund as may be determined by the Board of the Transferee, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice, having consulted with the With-Profits Committee where either the New Policies are with-profits Policies or are otherwise being allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF, and having regard to the nature of the New Policy, provided that such allocation is not inconsistent with:
  - (a) the terms of the New Policy (and, where the New Policy comes into force pursuant to an option or right contained in a Policy, the terms of such original Policy);

43

- (b) the Regulatory Requirements applicable to such ALPI Fund, including the Relevant CPC Principles;
- (c) the provisions of the Existing Transferee Schemes; and
- (d) in relation to any proposed allocation to the ALPI Irish WPF, the IWPF PPFM.
- 22.2 Subject to Regulatory Requirements, including the Relevant CPC Principles, the Board of the Transferee shall not be permitted to allocate any New Policy to any Wholly Reinsured Fund unless the liabilities of the Transferee in respect of such New Policy will be reinsured to the relevant Equivalent UKLAP Sub-Fund pursuant to the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement and the Transferee has obtained the prior consent of the Transferor (provided that no such consent shall be required for any New Policy which comes into force after the Effective Time as a result of an option or right contained in a Transferred Policy allocated to a Wholly Reinsured Fund).
- The Transferee shall only allocate New Policies to the ALPI Irish WPF where such New Policies have been issued on such terms and in such volumes as, in the opinion of the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted the With-Profits Committee, will not prejudice the reasonable expectations of all holders of Policies already allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF.
- 22.4 New Policies that have a right (including an option, whether or not exercised) to participate, directly or indirectly, in the profits or surplus of a particular ALPI Fund may only be written and allocated, or internally reinsured, to that ALPI Fund if it is open to new business at the time and on such terms and volumes as, in the opinion of the Board of the Transferee (having considered the financial strength of the relevant ALPI Fund and having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice) will not prejudice the interests of holders of Policies then allocated or internally reinsured to that ALPI Fund.
- Subject to paragraph 22.1, where, but for the provisions of this Scheme, the Transferee would be obliged after the Effective Time to write a New Policy that is a non-profit Policy (including pension annuities) by reason of contractual rights arising under a relevant Policy and which are exercised by the policyholder after the Effective Time, the Transferee shall be permitted to allocate such New Policy to the Other Business Fund or to such other non-profit ALPI Fund as the Board of the Transferee determines from time to time (having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice).
- Without prejudice to paragraph 22.1, the Board of the Transferee shall be entitled to change the allocation of any New Policy, provided that the Board of the Transferee must consult with the Head of Actuarial Function prior to any re-allocation of a New Policy to or from the ALPI Irish WPF.

# 23 Allocation of property and liabilities that arise after the Effective Time

- 23.1 Payments under Transferred Policies falling due after the Effective Time shall be allocated to and paid out of the ALPI Fund to which the relevant Policy is allocated (and, if allocated to more than one ALPI Fund, *pro rata* to such allocation). This allocation shall apply notwithstanding that any liability under the relevant Policy is internally reinsured to another ALPI Fund, but without prejudice to any claim under such internal reinsurance arrangement for the benefit of that ALPI Fund against the other ALPI Fund.
- 23.2 Save as otherwise provided in the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, at and from the Effective Time all rights, benefits and liabilities and all receipts and payments which relate to or directly arise pursuant to the terms of a New Policy allocated to a particular ALPI Fund shall be allocated to the ALPI Fund to which the New Policy is allocated.
- 23.3 Save as otherwise provided in this Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, any assets or liabilities relating to the Long-Term Insurance Business of the Transferee which arise at or after the Effective Time and are not allocated to a particular ALPI Fund pursuant to any provision of the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes shall be allocated to such ALPI Fund(s) as the Board of the Transferee shall determine:
  - (a) having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice;
  - (b) in accordance with Regulatory Requirements; and
  - (c) in relation to any allocation affecting the ALPI Irish WPF, in consultation with the With-Profits Committee.
- 23.4 Each ALPI Fund shall be credited with the investment income and other benefits arising from any asset allocated to such ALPI Fund, save as otherwise provided under the terms of this Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes.

## 24 Re-allocation of non-profit Policies

Subject to paragraphs 24.2 and 24.3 and the provisions of the Existing Transferee Schemes, the Transferee may re-allocate any non-profit Policy (or all or any part of a with-profits Policy that becomes a non-profit Policy) to any ALPI Fund (other than the ALPI Belgian Fund) to which non-profit business may be allocated (under this Scheme or otherwise), provided that the Board of the Transferee is satisfied (having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice) that such reallocation (considered in the aggregate with other re-allocations of the same type planned to be made in the next five years or actually made within the five years immediately prior to the date of the proposed re-allocation) will not have a material adverse effect on the Policy being reallocated or on the holders of Policies then allocated to or reinsured to the ALPI Fund to which, or from which, such Policy is proposed to be re-allocated.

- Where paragraph 24.1 applies, cash or assets shall be transferred or re-allocated from the ALPI Fund to which the Policy is allocated to the ALPI Fund to which the Policy is to be re-allocated, provided that, in the opinion of the Board of the Transferee (having taken appropriate actuarial advice), such cash and/or assets have a market value consistent with the corresponding transfer of liability and risk on a fair and equitable basis.
- A non-profit Policy (or all or any part of a with-profits Policy that becomes a non-profit Policy) may only be re-allocated to a Wholly Reinsured Fund if:
  - (a) that Policy (or the relevant part of such Policy) would be reinsured in its entirety to the relevant Equivalent UKLAP Sub-Fund by virtue of the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement; and
  - (b) the Transferee has obtained the prior consent of the Transferor.

## 25 Re-allocation of with-profits Policies

- 25.1 The Transferee may re-allocate any with-profits Policy, or all or any with-profits part of a Policy, to any ALPI Fund other than the Other Business Fund, the ALPI Belgian Fund or the ALPI Irish WPF, provided that:
  - (a) such re-allocation is not inconsistent with the terms of the Policy, the provisions of the Existing Transferee Schemes, Regulatory Requirements and governance principles applicable to the transferor ALPI Fund, including the Relevant CPC Principles;
  - (b) assets shall be transferred or re-allocated from the ALPI Fund to which the Policy was allocated to the ALPI Fund to which the Policy is to be re-allocated, provided that:
    - such assets are of market value consistent with the premium that the Transferee would have charged for the corresponding transfer of liability and risk had it issued a New Policy in respect thereof or, if no such price can be calculated, on a fair and equitable basis; and
    - (ii) the terms of the transfer are such that any entitlement of the Policy to participate in surplus is fairly reflected;
  - (c) the Board of the Transferee is satisfied, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice (and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee if the re-allocation involves the ALPI Irish WPF or a Wholly Reinsured Fund), that such re-allocation (considered in the aggregate with other re-allocations of the same type planned to be made in the next five years or actually made within the five years immediately prior to the date of the proposed re-allocation) will not have a material adverse effect on the Policy or Policies

being re-allocated or on the holders of Policies then allocated or reinsured to the ALPI Fund to which or from which such Policy or Policies are proposed to be re-allocated;

- (d) an opinion has been obtained from an independent actuary concluding that the reallocation does not have a material adverse effect on the interests of any group of withprofits policyholders (including the holder(s) of any such re-allocated with-profits Policies); and
- (e) a Policy may only be re-allocated to a Wholly Reinsured Fund if:
  - (i) that Policy would be reinsured in its entirety to the relevant Equivalent UKLAP Sub-Fund by virtue of the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement; and
  - (ii) the Transferee has obtained the prior consent of the Transferor.

## 26 Transfers and exchanges

- 26.1 Save as required or permitted by the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, there shall not at any time after the Effective Time be any transfer (including by way of loan), exchange or reallocation of property or liabilities between any of the ALPI Funds established or maintained pursuant to paragraph 13, in each case other than:
  - (a) a transfer that is required to comply with Regulatory Requirements;
  - (b) a transfer or exchange of listed securities at mid-market value;
  - (c) a transfer or re-allocation of property or liabilities on arms' length commercial terms approved by the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice; or
  - (d) a transfer, exchange or re-allocation on such terms as the Board of the Transferee determines are fair to relevant policyholders, having taken appropriate actuarial advice (including, where the ALPI Irish WPF is involved, consultation with the With-Profits Committee).

# 27 Delay in allocation or misallocation to the ALPI Funds

### 27.1 If:

- (a) there is, for any reason a delay (for which provision is not expressly made in this Scheme) in the allocation of any receipt, payment or other item to any ALPI Fund in accordance with this Scheme; or
- (b) there has been, for any reason, any incorrect allocation of any receipt, payment or other item to the relevant Equivalent UKLAP Sub-Fund which occurred but was not remedied

prior to the Effective Time of this Scheme and which results in such receipt, payment or other item being mis-allocated under Part D of this Scheme,

then the Board of the Transferee, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice (such advice including consultation with the With-Profits Committee if the adjustment involves the ALPI Irish WPF or a Wholly Reinsured Fund), may make such adjustment between the ALPI Funds as it considers appropriate in accordance with the principles underlying the Scheme to take account of such delay or incorrect allocation.

## 28 Financial management of the ALPI Funds

- 28.1 The Transferee shall manage its affairs in accordance with Regulatory Requirements from time to time.
- 28.2 Save as otherwise provided in the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, expenses incurred by the Transferee which do not relate specifically to a Policy shall be apportioned among such ALPI Fund(s) as determined by the Board of the Transferee, having:
  - taken account of appropriate actuarial advice (and having consulted with the With-Profits
     Committee if the apportionment affects the ALPI Irish WPF); and
  - (b) due regard to the interests of policyholders and their fair treatment and the business carried on for the account of each ALPI Fund.
- Save as otherwise provided in the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, if any distribution, administration or investment management fees or expenses incurred by the Transferee in respect of business allocated to an ALPI Fund (other than the Other Business Fund) are allocated to the Other Business Fund, an amount equal to such fees and expenses shall be transferred from the ALPI Fund to which the relevant business is allocated to the Other Business Fund, to the extent that such a transfer would be deemed appropriate by the Board of the Transferee, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice and is consistent with the Relevant CPC Principles. In addition, compliance with the IWPF PPFM and prior consultation with the With-Profits Committee shall be required where the ALPI Irish WPF is involved in such a transfer.
- 28.4 Without prejudice to any other provisions of the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, discretionary charges on Policies shall be managed from the Effective Time recognising the interests of the holders of such Policies and in line with the Relevant CPC Principles, and shall not be increased by reason of the Scheme or its implementation.
- 28.5 Save as otherwise provided in the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, the Transferee's Board (having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice) may decide that fees and expenses payable by the Transferee in respect of services provided to a Wholly Reinsured

Fund shall be allocated to the Other Business Fund or any other non-profit ALPI Fund from time to time.

- 28.6 Save as otherwise provided in the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, any distribution, administration or investment management fees or expenses incurred in relation to any Policy, asset or business allocated to any non-profit ALPI Fund shall not be reallocated to a with-profits ALPI Fund.
- 28.7 Save as otherwise provided in the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes and provided that the interests of policyholders are not materially adversely affected, the Transferee's Board may at any time, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice, transfer assets allocated to any non-profit ALPI Fund to the ALPI SHF or any other non-profit ALPI Fund, by way of contribution as a gift so as to form part of the assets of the ALPI SHF or other non-profit ALPI Fund (as the case may be).

### 29 Intra-Group loans

- 29.1 Subject to Regulatory Requirements, any ALPI Fund established or maintained pursuant to paragraph 13 may make a loan to, or investment in, any member of the Transferee's Group (whether jointly or not with any other ALPI Fund or company) provided that the Board of the Transferee, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice (and, where the ALPI Irish WPF and/or a Wholly Reinsured Fund is granting the loan, having consulted with the With-Profits Committee), is satisfied that:
  - (a) the extent of such loan or investment and the terms on which it is to be effected are no less favourable to the relevant ALPI Fund than would have been the case if the loan or investment had been advanced to, or made in, a company which was not a member of the Transferee's Group;
  - (b) the loan or investment is appropriate for the relevant ALPI Fund given the nature and term of the liabilities of that ALPI Fund; and
  - (c) the interests of the holders of all Policies allocated or internally reinsured to the relevant ALPI Fund will not be materially adversely affected as a result of such loan or investment.
- Where a loan is proposed to be made from an ALPI UKLAP Fund to any other ALPI Fund, such loan may only be made if the Transferee's Board, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice (and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee if such loan involves the ALPI Irish WPF or a Wholly Reinsured Fund), is satisfied that:
  - (a) the extent of such loan and the terms on which it is to be effected are no less favourable to the ALPI UKLAP Fund than would have been the case if the loan had been made to a third party which was not a member of the Transferee's Group;

- (b) the loan is appropriate for the relevant ALPI UKLAP Fund given the nature and term of the liabilities of such ALPI UKLAP Fund; and
- (c) the interests of the holders of all Policies allocated or internally reinsured to the relevant ALPI Funds will not be materially adversely affected as a result of such loan.

## 30 Internal Reinsurance Arrangements

- 30.1 The Transferee shall establish and maintain arrangements equivalent to internal reinsurance between the ALPI Irish WPF and the Other Business Fund, so as to continue any such arrangements equivalent to internal reinsurance that were in effect between the relevant Equivalent UKLAP Sub-Funds (being the "Irish With-Profits Sub-Fund" and the "Non-Profit Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor) immediately prior to the Effective Time (the "Internal Reinsurance Arrangements").
- The liability of the Internal Reinsurer in respect of any Internally Reinsured Policy shall cease at the same time as the liability of the Internal Cedant ceases in respect of that Internally Reinsured Policy.
- 30.3 There shall be transferred from the Internal Cedant to the Internal Reinsurer premiums determined on a basis referred to from time to time in the relevant Internal Reinsurance Arrangements.
- 30.4 A transfer of the amount of any claim to be made on the Internal Reinsurer by the Internal Cedant in respect of an Internally Reinsured Policy shall be made equal to the amount paid by the Internal Cedant in respect of the claim.
- 30.5 All transfers to be effected pursuant to this paragraph 30 shall be made promptly.
- The Transferee's Board may at any time, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee, amend or terminate any of the Internal Reinsurance Arrangements and effect such consequential transfers or alternative arrangements between the ALPI Irish WPF and the Other Business Fund as may be determined by the Transferee's Board to be appropriate. The terms of any such amendment or termination and any consequential transfer or alternative arrangements between the ALPI Irish WPF and the Other Business Fund shall be notified to the CBI in writing within ten (10) Business Days after they have taken effect.

## 31 Other provisions in relation to reinsurance

31.1 Subject to paragraphs 31.2 to 31.5 inclusive and paragraph 39, nothing in this Scheme shall prevent the Transferee from:

- (a) (provided not inconsistent with the terms of the underlying Policies or the Relevant CPC Principles, and in accordance with Regulatory Requirements) effecting other internal reinsurance arrangements between any ALPI Funds from time to time or entering into external reinsurance agreements with any company (whether within or outside the Transferee's Group); or
- (b) varying, modifying or terminating any internal or external reinsurance arrangements in accordance with the terms applicable to such arrangements (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement),

provided that any such reinsurance to or from the ALPI Irish WPF shall be subject to consultation with the With-Profits Committee.

- 31.2 From the Effective Time, the Transferee may only amend or enter into internal reinsurance arrangements if, in the opinion of the Transferee's Board (having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee if such internal reinsurance involves the ALPI Irish WPF or a Wholly Reinsured Fund), such amendment or entry (taking into account the corresponding re-allocation of assets among the relevant ALPI Funds) shall not materially adversely affect the interests of holders of Policies allocated or reinsured to the ALPI Funds involved.
- 31.3 Subject to paragraph 53.1(a), the Transferee may only enter into reinsurance arrangements with other members of the Transferee's group if (in the opinion of the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice) such reinsurance arrangements:
  - (a) do not materially adversely affect the interests of the Transferee's policyholders;
  - (b) are consistent with the Relevant CPC Principles; and
  - (c) where they relate to the ALPI Irish WPF or a Wholly Reinsured Fund, following consultation with the With-Profits Committee.
- 31.4 Save as otherwise provided in the Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, the liability to pay premiums in relation to such internal or external reinsurance arrangements shall be allocated to the ALPI Fund to which the Policies which are the subject of the reinsurance are allocated and, in the case of internal reinsurance arrangements, the premiums received or receivable shall be allocated to the ALPI Fund into which the risk is reinsured.
- 31.5 Save as otherwise provided in this Scheme or any of the Existing Transferee Schemes, the claims amounts received or receivable in relation to such internal or external reinsurance arrangements (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement and any amounts received thereunder, including upon termination of the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement) shall be allocated to the ALPI Fund to which the Policies which are the subject of

the reinsurance and, in the case of internal reinsurance arrangements, the Transferee shall debit such claim amount from the reinsuring ALPI Fund and credit such amount to the ceding ALPI Fund.

## 32 Limitations on the reallocation or reinsurance of with-profits Policies

- 32.1 No re-allocation or reinsurance of Policies as that referred to in paragraphs 25.1 or 31.1(a) shall be made or effected unless the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice (and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee if such re-allocation or reinsurance involves the ALPI Irish WPF or a Wholly Reinsured Fund), is satisfied that:
  - (a) the re-allocation or reinsurance will not prejudice either the interests of the holders of Policies allocated to and included within either of the relevant ALPI Funds or the interests of the holder or holders of the relevant Policy, and
  - (b) an appropriate amount has been transferred between the relevant ALPI Funds so that the ALPI Fund to which the relevant Policy (or the constituent part or parts of the relevant Policy, as the case may be) will be allocated shall have received such amount as the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, shall determine after having satisfied itself that transfer of such amount will not infringe the requirements of paragraph 32.1(a).
- No re-allocation or reinsurance as referred to in paragraphs 25.1 or 31.1(a) above shall be made in the case of a Policy that is (i) a with-profits Policy, a Split IWPF With-Profits Policy or a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy, and (ii) allocated (in whole or in part) to the ALPI Irish WPF, unless such Policy does not or shall have ceased to confer on the holder a right to participate in surplus of the ALPI Irish WPF.

## 33 Switching provisions

- 33.1 If at any time a switch is made from unit-linked investment to with-profits investment in respect of a Hybrid Policy or a DC Policy, the switch premium (being the amount derived from the cancellation of UL Units by reason of the switch, less any deductions) determined by the Transferee's Board, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice (and, where applicable, the IWPF PPFM), shall be debited from the ALPI Fund to which the unit-linked investment element of the Policy is allocated and credited to the ALPI Fund to which the WP Part of such Policy is allocated and, where it is internally reinsured, the appropriate proportion of such switch premium shall be transferred to the relevant Internal Reinsurer in respect of the amount so switched and WP Units credited to the relevant Policy.
- 33.2 If at any time a switch is made from with-profits investment to unit-linked investment in respect of a Hybrid Policy or a DC Policy, the switch premium (being the amount derived from the cancellation of the WP Units by reason of the switch, less any deductions) determined by the

Transferee's Board, having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice (and, where applicable, the IWPF PPFM), shall be debited from:

- (a) where the WP Part of that Policy is internally reinsured, the relevant Internal Reinsurer; or
- (b) where the WP Part of that Policy is not internally reinsured, the ALPI Fund to which the WP Part of such Policy is allocated,

and credited to the ALPI Fund to which the unit-linked investment element of the Policy is allocated and appropriate UL Units shall be credited to the relevant Policy and WP Units shall be cancelled in respect of the amount so switched.

### 34 Role of the With-Profits Committee

34.1 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Scheme, the Transferee's Board (and any person or committee to whom it may have delegated relevant authority) shall consult with the With-Profits Committee where required to do so in accordance with the terms of reference of the With-Profits Committee.

### 35 ALPI SRA Statement

- With effect from the Effective Time, the Transferee shall maintain and comply with the ALPI SRA Statement.
- 35.2 The Transferee's Board shall, from time to time, be entitled to:
  - (a) make amendments to the ALPI SRA Statement (including amendments to correct manifest errors) provided that they do not result in a material weakening (as defined in the ALPI SRA Statement) of the provisions of the ALPI SRA Statement; and
  - (b) make any other amendment to the ALPI SRA Statement as the Transferee's Board sees fit after having:
    - (i) taken account of appropriate actuarial advice (including having consulted with the With-Profits Committee); and
    - (ii) consulted with the Head of Actuarial Function.

The CBI will also be informed.

## 36 Financial support

Nothing in the Scheme shall prevent the Transferee from relying upon any of the assets in each ALPI Fund from time to time for the purposes of meeting its capital requirements, subject always to compliance with Regulatory Requirements.

36.2 Save as otherwise expressly provided for in this Scheme, nothing in this Scheme shall require the Transferee to provide any form of capital support to any ALPI UKLAP Fund after the Effective Time.

### 37 Tax

- 37.1 From the Effective Time there shall be debited and charged to the ALPI Irish WPF the amount of Tax which would have been borne by the ALPI Irish WPF had the Long-Term Insurance Business carried on within the ALPI Irish WPF (including the business represented by the assets held in the ALPI Irish WPF in respect of the Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies and the Split IWPF With-Profits Policies) been the entirety of the Long-Term Insurance Business of a separate Irish proprietary life insurance company subject to Tax in Ireland. Such calculation shall be made:
  - (a) by reference to the Tax liabilities which would become payable in respect of distributions made to the ALPI SHF from the ALPI Irish WPF under paragraph 44 having regard to the fact that the distributions to be made to the ALPI SHF from the ALPI Irish WPF under paragraph 44 are amounts net of all Tax in respect of such distributions; and
  - (b) so that:
    - (i) such amount shall be transferred to the Other Business Fund (or, if the calculation shall show that the ALPI Irish WPF would have been entitled to a net Tax reclaim, the amount of such reclaim shall instead be transferred to the ALPI Irish WPF from the Other Business Fund or shall be available to off-set against any future transfer falling to be made from the ALPI Irish WPF to the Other Business Fund); and
    - (ii) no Tax liabilities of the Transferee shall be debited or charged to the ALPI Irish WPF other than those liabilities in respect of Tax which are to be discharged out of the ALPI Irish WPF pursuant to this paragraph 37.1,

provided that, if the Transferee's Board, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee, considers (whether because of a change in or in the interpretation of Tax laws and/or policies or for any other reason whatsoever) that it is inappropriate to determine the charge to the ALPI Irish WPF in respect of Tax in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph 37.1, the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, may substitute for it and there shall for all purposes of this Scheme be treated as the amount determined pursuant to this paragraph 37.1 such other amount as in all the circumstances it shall think fit.

Any Tax reliefs calculated to be available to the Transferor in respect of the "Irish With-Profits Sub-Fund" and not utilised in the period ending at the Effective Time shall be allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF.

37.3 The amount of Tax (including deferred Tax) to be debited or charged, or credited, as the case may be, to any ALPI UKLAP Fund other than the ALPI Irish WPF, shall be on a basis that is determined by the Transferee's Board as being fair and reasonable, having taken appropriate tax and actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee if any Tax is to be apportioned to a Wholly Reinsured Fund.

### 38 Merger and division of ALPI UKLAP Funds (general)

- The provisions of this paragraph 38 shall not apply to the Wholly Reinsured Funds (in respect of which paragraph 39 shall apply instead).
- The Transferee shall be at liberty to amalgamate any ALPI UKLAP Fund (or any part thereof) with any other ALPI Fund(s), or to divide any ALPI UKLAP Fund into two or more new funds, subject to:
  - (a) in the case of an amalgamation or division of a with-profits ALPI Fund:
    - (i) the Board of the Transferee having engaged in prior consultation with the CBI; and
    - (ii) a report on the terms of such amalgamation or division having been made by an independent actuary (and a copy of such report having been delivered to the CBI) which concludes that such amalgamation or division on such terms is not likely adversely to affect the reasonable expectations of the then-holders of Policies carrying the right to participate in profits of the relevant ALPI Fund; and
  - (b) in the case of an amalgamation or division of the ALPI Irish WPF, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee.
- 38.3 Subject to paragraph 13.3, the Transferee shall be at liberty to amalgamate the ALPI SHF with any non-profit ALPI Fund at any time.
- 38.4 Upon any such amalgamation or division, the provisions of this Scheme shall take effect as amended pursuant to the terms of such amalgamation or division (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any resulting amendments to paragraph 42).
- The foregoing provisions of this paragraph 38 are without prejudice to the contractual rights of the policyholders under any Policy (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Transferred Policy).

## 39 Amendment to arrangements in relation to the Wholly Reinsured Funds

39.1 Subject to paragraph 39.4, the Board of the Transferee may take such steps (whether of the kind contemplated in paragraph 39.3 or otherwise) as in its opinion would not be (and would not be likely to become) prejudicial to the holders of Policies allocated to the Wholly Reinsured

Funds, in circumstances in which the Board of the Transferee has determined that the maintenance of the arrangements provided for in this Scheme (in particular, the arrangements set out in paragraph 5.4) and the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement are no longer necessary to protect the rights and reasonable expectations of holders of Policies allocated to the Wholly Reinsured Funds. For these purposes, a step which would give the Transferor a right to terminate the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement shall be deemed to be prejudicial to the holders of Policies allocated to the Wholly Reinsured Funds.

- 39.2 Subject to paragraph 39.4, the Board of the Transferee must take such steps (whether of the kind contemplated in paragraph 39.3 or otherwise) as in its opinion would be reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances to protect, so far as practicable, the rights and reasonable expectations of the holders of any affected Policies, if the Board of the Transferee determines that the maintenance of the arrangements provided for in this Scheme (in particular, the arrangements set out in paragraph 5.4) and the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement is (or is likely to become) prejudicial to the holders of Policies allocated to the Wholly Reinsured Funds, including (for example) in circumstances where:
  - (a) the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement is terminated, has become capable of termination in whole or in part, or is materially varied;
  - (b) there is a material increase in the Tax applicable to the receipt by the Transferee of claims payments under the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement; or
  - (c) there is a material increase in the Tax applicable to the receipt by policyholders of claims payments under Policies allocated to the Wholly Reinsured Funds,

provided that, where the Transferor or Transferee has given notice to terminate the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement (or where the termination of the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement is reasonably imminent for any other reason), the maintenance of the arrangements provided for in this Scheme shall be deemed to be prejudicial to the holders of Policies allocated to the Wholly Reinsured Funds and the Board of the Transferee shall be required to take steps to protect such holders of Policies under this paragraph 39.2.

- Without prejudice to the generality of paragraphs 39.1 and 39.2, the steps taken by the Board of the Transferee pursuant to paragraph 39.1 or 39.2 may include:
  - (a) the termination of the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement (if that has not already occurred);
  - (b) the closure, merger or amalgamation of affected Wholly Reinsured Funds with each other, or with other ALPI Funds;

- (c) the suspension of or variation to the provisions of this Scheme that apply to the affected Wholly Reinsured Funds and/or the Policies allocated to the affected Wholly Reinsured Funds (including, for the avoidance of doubt, paragraph 5.4);
- (d) the re-classification of any affected Wholly Reinsured Fund as a with-profits fund;
- (e) the expansion of the terms of reference of the With-Profits Committee to any affected Wholly Reinsured Fund; and/or
- (f) the codification of principles, practices and policies in respect of the future operation and management of any affected Wholly Reinsured Fund (which may or may not be consistent with the principles, practices and policies applied by the Transferor in respect of the operation and management of the relevant Equivalent UKLAP Sub-Fund).
- 39.4 Prior to taking any steps pursuant to paragraph 39.1 or 39.2, the Board of the Transferee shall:
  - (a) consult with, and obtain the prior approval of, an independent actuary;
  - (b) notify the CBI in writing of the same (and the CBI not having objected thereto within a period of sixty (60) days (or any longer period required pursuant to paragraphs 49.2 or 49.3 of this Scheme) commencing from the date of the relevant notification);
  - (c) consult with the With-Profits Committee where applicable;
  - (d) comply with Relevant CPC Principles; and
  - (e) comply with all other Regulatory Requirements.

### PART F - ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE ALPI IRISH WPF

#### 40 IWPF PPFM

- With effect from the Effective Time, the ALPI Irish WPF shall be managed and operated in accordance with the IWPF PPFM and Regulatory Requirements and, subject to Regulatory Requirements, any other practices, procedures, policies, frameworks, agreements or similar arrangements put in place under, or in accordance with, the IWPF PPFM.
- The Transferee shall consult with the Head of Actuarial Function, comply with Regulatory Requirements and comply with any applicable requirements of the IWPF PPFM when making any amendments to the IWPF PPFM, including when making any amendments to the provisions in the IWPF PPFM governing the amendment thereof.
- 40.3 The Transferee shall maintain the IWPF PPFM unless the Board of the Transferee, having consulted with the Head of Actuarial Function, puts in place some materially equivalent other form of protection, in which case the references in this Scheme to the IWPF PPFM shall be deemed to refer to that alternative form of protection.

## 41 Annuities payable from the ALPI Irish WPF

41.1 In any case where an annuity is to be payable from the ALPI Irish WPF, the Transferee may determine that the liability of the ALPI Irish WPF in respect of that annuity will be extinguished by the payment of an appropriate arms-length premium from the assets of the ALPI Irish WPF to the Other Business Fund, another non-profit ALPI Fund or to another insurance undertaking (which may or may not be a member of the Transferee's Group) for which premium, the relevant non-profit ALPI Fund or other insurance undertaking assumes full responsibility for discharging the liability to provide the appropriate annuity benefits. The amount of the arms-length premium and the terms of assumption of responsibility for that liability shall be determined in a manner approved by the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice.

# 42 Conversion of Converting IWPF Policies into non-profit Policies

- 42.1 If the value of the ALPI Irish WPF falls, and remains, below €250,000,000 at the end of two successive Valuation Periods, then, at any time while the value of the ALPI Irish WPF remains below €250,000,000, the Transferee may, having:
  - (a) informed and received no objections from the CBI within sixty (60) days of notification;
  - (b) taken appropriate actuarial advice (including consultation with the With-Profits Committee), determined and declared a guaranteed future bonus scale setting out a series of bonus allocations ("Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses"), calculated in accordance

with Schedule 4, that the Transferee commits to allocate to Converting IWPF Policies; and

(c) given to holders of all Policies that may become Converting IWPF Policies not less than three (3) months' written notice prior to the IWPF Conversion Date that those Policies may become Converting IWPF Policies,

close and no longer maintain the ALPI Irish WPF and allocate all Policies, property and liabilities then allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF to the Other Business Fund or such other ALPI Fund as the Transferee's Board may determine on the basis of appropriate actuarial advice (in either case, the "Replacement Fund"). The closure of the ALPI Irish WPF and allocation of the Policies, property and liabilities of the ALPI Irish WPF to the Replacement Fund shall occur simultaneously on such date (the "IWPF Conversion Date") as the Board of the Transferee shall determine having taken appropriate actuarial advice.

### 42.2 Immediately prior to the IWPF Conversion Date:

- (a) all Policies or other arrangements (if any) under which reinsurance is provided to the ALPI Irish WPF by another ALPI Fund at that time shall, at the option of the Transferee's Board, terminate forthwith, whereupon:
  - (i) all obligations and liabilities (actual or contingent) incurred to the ALPI Irish WPF thereunder shall be fully and finally released; and
  - (ii) in consideration for the foregoing, the Transferee shall promptly transfer the relevant Arms' Length Consideration from the ALPI Fund which provided such reinsurance to the ALPI Irish WPF, or from the ALPI Irish WPF to that ALPI Fund (as appropriate); and
- (b) each Policy or other arrangement allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF, or reinsured to the ALPI Irish WPF by another ALPI Fund, or in respect of which reinsurance is provided by another ALPI Fund to the ALPI Irish WPF (as appropriate) shall be deemed to be amended to the extent necessary to incorporate and reflect the provisions of this paragraph.

### 42.3 Upon and from the IWPF Conversion Date:

- (a) all options and guarantees provided for under the terms of the Converting IWPF Policies shall continue in full force and effect;
- (b) the Guaranteed IWPF Bonus allocations shall take the place of bonuses that may otherwise have been declared or any other augmentations that may have been applied in

- respect of the Converting IWPF Policies and will apply as guaranteed bonus allocations from declaration until termination of each of those Policies in accordance with its terms;
- (c) on termination of a Converting IWPF Policy, the amount to be paid to the holder of the Policy will be the fair value of the Policy determined by the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice;
- (d) the value of the Converting IWPF Policies shall no longer be derived from (and those Policies shall have no further right to participate in) any of the profits of the Transferee and/or the surplus or any of the profits of the ALPI Irish WPF;
- (e) each of the Converting IWPF Policies shall be designated and treated as a non-profit policy and shall be subject to the provisions of this Scheme relevant to the ALPI Fund to which it is re-allocated;
- (f) the IWPF PPFM (and any practices, procedures, policies, frameworks, agreements or similar arrangements put in place under, or in accordance with, the IWPF PPFM or paragraph 40.3) shall no longer have effect;
- (g) all references in this Scheme to the ALPI Irish WPF shall be disregarded; and
- (h) holders of Converting IWPF Policies shall not be entitled to increase the amount of any regular premium payable, or to pay any additional premiums under or in respect of, a Converting IWPF Policy to the extent that this would result in an increase participation of the relevant Policy in the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses except to the extent that such increase or payment is pursuant to a pre-determined increase or series of payments provided for in the terms and conditions of the relevant Policy.
- For the purposes of calculating the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses, if the value of the guaranteed liabilities (excluding any discretionary payments, such as bonuses) of the ALPI Irish WPF at the IWPF Conversion Date exceeds the value of the property of the ALPI Irish WPF, the value of such property will be deemed to be increased by an amount equal to the shortfall.

### 43 Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies and Split IWPF With-Profits Policies

## 43.1 From the Effective Time:

- (a) the Unitised IWPF With-Profits Investment Element in respect of all Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies and all Split IWPF With-Profits Policies and any amount becoming transferable in respect of such Policies in accordance with the provisions of this Scheme shall be credited to the ALPI Irish WPF; and
- (b) the Unitised Transfer Value in respect of any Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy or any Split IWPF With-Profits Policy and any amount becoming transferable from the ALPI Irish

WPF in accordance with the provisions of this Scheme shall be debited and charged to the ALPI Irish WPF (including VAT, where applicable).

- 43.2 The following provisions shall apply in respect of Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies and/or Split IWPF With-Profits Policies:
  - (a) any premium received on or from the Effective Time in respect of a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy or a Split IWPF With-Profits Policy shall be credited to the Other Business Fund. The Unitised IWPF With-Profits Investment Element in respect of such premium for a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy or a Split IWPF With-Profits Policy or in respect of any additional WP Units allocated by way of bonus to, or created upon a Switch into WP Units in respect of, a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy shall be transferred from the Other Business Fund to the ALPI Irish WPF in accordance with paragraph 43.1(a);
  - (b) any amount payable to the holder of a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy or a Split IWPF With-Profits Policy upon any event giving rise to a cancellation of WP Units in respect of a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy or upon any event giving rise to a claim under a Split IWPF With-Profits Policy (whether arising in either event by reason of surrender, death, annuity, disability or maturity or other event giving rise to a claim) shall be debited to the Other Business Fund and the relevant Unitised Transfer Value in respect of such Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy or Split IWPF With-Profits Policy shall be debited to the ALPI Irish WPF in accordance with paragraph 43.1(b) and shall be transferred from the ALPI Irish WPF to the Other Business Fund;
  - (c) in the event of any other cancellation of WP Units (whether by reason of the imposition in accordance with the relevant policy of charges or fees or by reason of a Switch out of WP Units allocated to such Policy or for any other reason), the relevant Unitised Transfer Value attributable to the cancelled units shall be debited to the ALPI Irish WPF in accordance with paragraph 43.1(b) and shall be transferred from the ALPI Irish WPF to the Other Business Fund; and
  - (d) the provisions of this paragraph 43 shall be read and construed accordingly.

### 43.3 The Unitised IWPF With-Profits Investment Element:

- (a) of a premium received in respect of a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy or the investment element of a Split IWPF With-Profits Policy; and
- (b) in respect of any additional WP Units allocated by way of bonus to, or created upon a Switch into WP Units in respect of, a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy,

shall be calculated by the Transferee as provided for in the terms and conditions of the Policies concerned or, if not so provided, as determined by Transferee on such a basis as the Transferee shall consider appropriate.

- 43.4 The Unitised Transfer Value with respect to any cancellation of WP Units in relation to a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy (including any cancellation effected in accordance with the terms of a Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy to meet any charges leviable or to reflect a Switch out of WP Units in respect of such Policy) or with respect to a Split IWPF With-Profits Policy shall be calculated by the Transferee on the basis provided for in the terms and conditions of the Policies concerned or, if not so provided, as determined by the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, but so that the amount of such Unitised Transfer Value shall result in all charges which the Transferee is entitled to recover in respect of any such cancellation in accordance with the provisions of such Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policy or such Split IWPF With-Profits Policy accruing to the Other Business Fund.
- All management charges in respect of Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies and Split IWPF With-Profits Policies to be levied on the ALPI Irish WPF in favour of the Other Business Fund (which shall be as provided for in the terms and conditions of the Policies concerned or, if not so provided, as determined by the Transferee's Board, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, to be fairly attributable to the ALPI Irish WPF in respect of all Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies and Split IWPF With-Profits Policies in force during the period for which such management charges are levied) shall be charged to and debited from the ALPI Irish WPF and credited to the Other Business Fund.

## 44 Distribution from the ALPI Irish WPF

44.1 The Transferee's Board shall, as at the end of each Valuation Period, cause an actuarial investigation to be made, by the Head of Actuarial Function, into the financial condition of the ALPI Irish WPF in a manner (including on such basis of valuation and by such methods) approved by the Transferee's Board, having taken appropriate actuarial advice. Transferee's Board, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee, shall thereafter determine the amount of surplus (whether arising in respect of the year ending with such Valuation Period or carried forward within the ALPI Irish WPF) which is available within the ALPI Irish WPF (without prejudice to existing claims and demands on the ALPI Irish WPF) and, in particular, having made appropriate provision for all contractual obligations under Policies allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF (including any options). The Transferee's Board, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee, shall also determine the proportion thereof to be allocated or distributed in accordance with this paragraph 44 and the proportion to be carried forward within the ALPI Irish WPF, respectively. In determining the proportion thereof to be allocated or distributed in accordance with this paragraph 44, the Transferee's Board, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee, shall have regard to the IWPF PPFM (and any practices, procedures, policies, frameworks, agreements or similar arrangements put in place under, or in accordance with, the IWPF PPFM or paragraph 40.3) and such other considerations as it shall think appropriate.

- The amount which the Transferee's Board determines pursuant to paragraph 44.1 to allocate or distribute from the ALPI Irish WPF shall be apportioned between:
  - (a) the amount allocated as bonus, or otherwise applied in augmenting the benefits, on the IWPF With-Profits Policies, the Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies, the Split IWPF With-Profits Policies and the IWPF New With-Profits Policies; and
  - (b) the amount available for transfer to the ALPI SHF in accordance with the following provisions of this paragraph 44.
- 44.3 For the purposes of this paragraph 44, neither:
  - (a) the cost of making any payment in accordance with the terms of a Policy, including the cost of providing annuities to Policyholders at rates pre-determined (or derived from factors pre-determined) under Policies issued to those Policyholders; or
  - (b) the cost of any payment resulting from any other contractual obligation (including the cost of effecting any Option) under a Policy,

shall constitute a bonus or augmentation of benefits.

- 44.4 An amount equal to one ninth (or such lower proportion as the Transferee's Board shall determine) of:
  - (a) the aggregate amount allocated in accordance with paragraph 44.2 by way of bonus, or otherwise in augmenting the benefits, of the IWPF With-Profits Policies; and
  - (b) the aggregate amount allocated by way of bonus, or otherwise in augmenting the benefits, on the IWPF With-Profits Policies pursuant to paragraph 44.8 in anticipation of the determination made by the Transferee's Board referred to in paragraph 44.2,

shall, in accordance with the determination of the Transferee's Board (having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee), be transferred to the ALPI SHF.

Subject to paragraph 44.6, an amount equal to such part (if any) of the amount allocated from within the ALPI Irish WPF by way of bonus, or otherwise, in augmenting the benefits on IWPF New With-Profits Policies as the Transferee's Board (having taken appropriate actuarial advice

and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee) shall determine, may be transferred to the ALPI SHF.

- 44.6 All IWPF New With-Profits Policies shall be issued on the basis that the maximum amount which may be transferred in respect of each such Policy pursuant to paragraph 44.5 is specified in advance and is consistent with the provisions of paragraph 22. No transfer shall be made pursuant to paragraph 44.5 in excess of such amount in respect of any such Policy.
- The balance of the amount which the Transferee's Board determines to allocate or distribute from the ALPI Irish WPF shall be allocated as bonus, or otherwise in augmenting the benefits, on:
  - (a) the IWPF With-Profits Policies;
  - (b) the Split IWPF With-Profits Policies;
  - (c) the Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies; and
  - (d) the IWPF New With-Profits Policies referred to in paragraph 44.5,

in such form, and among such one or more of the classes or sections of such Policies, and at such times, and on such principles, and by such methods, as the Transferee's Board, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee, shall determine.

- The Transferee's Board may allocate such additional bonuses or other benefits to any classes of the IWPF With-Profits Policies, the Split IWPF With-Profits Policies, the Unitised IWPF With-Profits Policies and the IWPF New With-Profits Policies referred to in paragraph 44.5 on or prior to such Policies becoming payable wholly or in part as the Transferees' Board, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee, may determine, having regard to such considerations as it shall think appropriate.
- 44.9 For the avoidance of doubt, the amount of any distribution which may be made from the ALPI Irish WPF to the ALPI SHF under this paragraph 44 is expressed in this paragraph on the basis that any Tax liability in respect of such distribution is not borne out of the distribution itself but out of assets allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF and held in excess of the liabilities attributed to the ALPI Irish WPF.

#### **PART G - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS**

### 45 Effective Time

- 45.1 Subject to paragraph 45.2, this Scheme shall become effective at 22:59 (GMT) on 29 March 2019 or at such date and time as the Board of the Transferor shall resolve that this Scheme shall become effective.
- 45.2 This Scheme may not become effective unless and until the Order has been made.
- This Scheme shall lapse if it has not become effective (in accordance with paragraph 45.1) on or before [30 April 2019] (or such later date as the Court may allow upon the application of the Transferor).

### 46 Effect of transfer

- 46.1 The transfer and vesting of the Transferred Business shall not:
  - (a) invalidate or discharge any contract, security or other thing;
  - (b) require further registration in respect of any security or charge;
  - (c) constitute a breach of, or default under, or require any obligation to be performed sooner or later than would otherwise be the case under any instrument or contract or arrangement to which the Transferor is bound;
  - (d) entitle any party to a Policy, Contract or arrangement to which the Transferor is a party to vary, amend, disclaim, repudiate or terminate such contract or arrangement when, in the absence of this transfer, that party would not otherwise be entitled to vary, amend, disclaim, repudiate or terminate it;
  - (e) save as provided elsewhere in this Scheme, confer any greater or lesser rights or benefits, or impose any greater or lesser obligations, under a contract on any party to such contract to which the Transferor is a party where such greater or lesser rights, benefits or obligations would not otherwise have been conferred or imposed; or
  - (f) affect the enforceability, priority or ranking of any Encumbrance.

# 47 Netting of transfers or re-allocations

Where pursuant to the Scheme a transfer or re-allocation of assets is due from one ALPI Fund to another, the Transferee may set off such transfer or re-allocation against any transfer or re-allocation of assets due from the latter to the former.

## 48 Costs and expenses

- 48.1 Except as may otherwise be agreed in writing:
  - (a) the Transferor shall bear its own costs and expenses in relation to the preparation and carrying into effect of this Scheme, and shall apportion all such costs to its "Non-Profit Sub-Fund" or "Shareholder Fund"; and
  - (b) the Transferee shall bear its own costs and expenses in relation to the preparation and carrying into effect of this Scheme, and shall apportion all such costs to the Other Business Fund or the ALPI SHF.

#### 49 Variations

- 49.1 Prior to the grant of the Order, the Transferor and the Transferee together may consent for and on behalf of the persons bound by this Scheme, and all other persons concerned, to any variation of this Scheme.
- 49.2 Subject to paragraph 49.3, any variation of this Scheme after the grant of the Order must:
  - (a) be approved by the Court;
  - (b) be notified, reasonably in advance of any hearing of the Court at which such application is considered, to the CBI, who shall have the right to attend and be heard at such hearing of the Court;
  - (c) in relation to any variation of this Scheme that would take effect prior to the fifth anniversary of the date of the Order (and thereafter in relation to any variation of this Scheme that the Board of the Transferee reasonably considers, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, could affect the security or reasonable expectations of the holders of Policies of the Transferor), be notified, reasonably in advance of any hearing of the Court at which such application is considered, to the Transferor (if the Transferor is not otherwise a party to the application to vary the Scheme), the PRA and the FCA, who shall each have the right to attend and be heard at such hearing of the Court; and
  - (d) be accompanied by a certificate from an independent expert (such independent expert to be selected and appointed by the Board of the Transferee with the approval of the CBI) to the effect that, in his or her opinion, the proposed variation will not materially and adversely affect the security or reasonable expectations of the holders of Transferred Policies.
- 49.3 Notwithstanding paragraph 49.2, Court approval will not be necessary in relation to any variation of this Scheme which is considered by the Transferee as a variation:

- (a) to correct manifest errors;
- (b) of a minor and/or technical nature;
- (c) to ensure that the provisions of this Scheme operate in the intended manner in circumstances where the provision to which the proposed variation applies will, or is likely to, be materially affected by variation or proposed variation to Regulatory Requirements;
- (d) necessary to reflect any changes in the generally accepted actuarial practices adopted by the Transferee;
- (e) required to protect the rights and reasonable expectations of the holders of Transferred Policies; or
- (f) for which specific provision is made elsewhere in this Scheme (provided that such specific provision is fully complied with),

### provided that:

- the CBI has been notified in writing of the same and has not objected thereto within a period of three (3) months commencing from the date of acknowledgement of the relevant notification by the CBI;
- (ii) in relation to any variation of this Scheme that would take effect prior to the fifth anniversary of the date of the Order (and thereafter in relation to any variation of this Scheme that the Board of the Transferee reasonably considers, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, could affect the security or reasonable expectations of the holders of Policies of the Transferor), the Transferor, the PRA and the FCA have been notified in writing of the same;
- (iii) in relation to any variation of this Scheme that the Board of the Transferee reasonably considers, having taken appropriate actuarial advice, could affect the security or reasonable expectations of the holders of Policies of the Transferor, neither the Transferor, the PRA nor the FCA (having been notified in writing of the same in accordance with paragraph 49.3(ii)) has objected thereto within a period of three (3) months commencing from the date of acknowledgement of the relevant notification by the Transferor, the PRA or the FCA (as applicable); and
- (iv) the Transferee has taken appropriate actuarial advice (and having consulted with the With-Profits Committee if such variation directly or indirectly involves the ALPI Irish WPF or a Wholly Reinsured Fund).
- 49.4 For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Scheme shall take effect to the extent that it is contrary to Regulatory Requirements on [date of sanction of Scheme] (taking account of any

applicable transitional provisions or regulatory waiver or dispensation in place at such date). The Transferee shall assess at least annually (and more often if required) whether any changes are required to this Scheme as a result of the circumstances referred to in paragraph 49.3(c) which either:

- (a) have arisen during the period since the previous such assessment (or the Effective Time in the case of the first such assessment); or
- (b) are expected to arise during the twelve months following the current assessment on the basis of published draft rules or legislation or published Court judgments at that time,
- 49.5 If the Transferee assesses that the circumstances referred to in paragraphs 49.4(a) or 49.4(b) above have arisen or are expected to arise, it shall notify the CBI and, where relevant, the With-Profits Committee of the circumstances which have arisen and, to the extent reasonably practicable in respect of future changes, its proposed amendments to this Scheme in accordance with the provisions of this paragraph as are necessary to take account of such circumstances. As regards future changes pursuant to paragraph 49.4(b) above, the Transferee will seek to make such proposed modifications to the Scheme in sufficient time to enable the Scheme to address the effect of the change by no later than the implementation date of such change.

## 50 Evidence of transfer

- The production of a copy of the Order (with any modifications, amendments and/or additions made under paragraph 49) shall for all purposes be evidence of the transfer to, and vesting in, the relevant Transferee:
  - (a) at and with effect from the Effective Time, of the Day One Business; and
  - (b) on and with effect from each Subsequent Transfer Date, of the relevant Deferred Transfer Business.

## 51 Annual certification of Scheme compliance

Having taken account of appropriate actuarial advice, the Head of Actuarial Function shall deliver (or cause to be delivered) to the Transferee's Board a certificate stating whether the provisions of Parts E, F and G of this Scheme have been complied with since the date of the last such certificate (and, if not, detailing the respects in which such provisions have not been complied with), on an annual basis and within four months of the end of the period to which it relates.

51.2 The first certificate to be delivered pursuant to paragraph 51.1 after the Effective Time shall also state whether the provisions of Parts C and D of this Scheme were complied with (and, if not, detail the respects in which such provisions have not been complied with).

## 52 Third party rights

It is not intended that any person who is not a party to this Scheme may enforce any of its terms, whether by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 or otherwise.

## 53 Agreed form documents

- 53.1 Following the Order being made and prior to the Effective Time:
  - (a) the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement shall be executed by the Transferor and the Transferee in the agreed form; and
  - (b) the Deed of Charge shall be executed by the Transferor and the Transferee.

## 54 Successors and assigns

54.1 This Scheme will bind and endure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of each of the Transferor and the Transferee.

## 55 Governing law

55.1 This Scheme is governed by and shall be construed in accordance with English law.

Dated this [●] day of [●].

# Schedule 1 List of Transferred Policy products

Part A: Products which are either (i) allocated to the "Irish With-Profits Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor, or (ii) issued by the Transferor's tax branch in the Republic of Ireland and allocated to the "Non-Profit Sub-Fund" maintained by the Transferor but which are not being reinsured to the Transferor pursuant to the OLAB Reinsurance Agreement

Product	Туре	Sub-type	
Celebration Bond	With-profits		
Portfolio Bond	With-profits		
Spectrum Bond	With-profits		
Endowment – Mortgage	With-profits		
Endowment – Assurance	With-profits		
Miscellaneous – Extra Premiums	With-profits		
NuLife & NuPlan	With-profits		
Low Cost Maximum Profits Plan	With-profits	Pure endowment	
Guaranteed Bonus & Capital Plan	With-profits	Pure endowment	
Whole Life	With-profits		
Whole Life (Minimum Cost – Guaranteed)	With-profits		
Whole Life (Minimum Cost – Non-Guaranteed)	With-profits		
Fixed Rate Bond	Non-profit	Bonds	
Fixed Income Bond	Non-profit	Bonds	
Laserplan	Non-profit	Laserplan endowment	
Endowment Laserplan	Non-profit	Laserplan endowment	
Low Cost Endowments	Non-profit	Endowment assurance	
Mortgagewise	Non-profit	Accelerated serious illness	

Product	Туре	Sub-type
Life Security Plus Plan / Mortgage Security Plus Plan	Non-profit	Accelerated serious illness
Life Security Serious Illness Plan	Non-profit	Accelerated serious illness
Contingent insurance	Non-profit	
Family Income Plan	Non-profit	
Mortgage Accelerated Serious Illness	Non-profit	
MortgageMinder	Non-profit	Mortgage life
FamilyMinder	Non-profit	Multiple benefits
FamilyCare	Non-profit	Multiple benefits
PersonalCare	Non-profit	Multiple benefits
FamilyWise	Non-profit	Multiple benefits
CoverWise	Non-profit	Multiple benefits
HealthWise	Non-profit	Multiple benefits
HealthWise Series 2	Non-profit	Multiple benefits
Hibernian Health Plan	Non-profit	Multiple benefits
Standalone serious illness	Non-profit	
Varying cover	Non-profit	
Term assurance	Non-profit	
Century Cover / LifeSpan	Non-profit	Whole life
Low Cost Whole Life Insurance	Non-profit	Whole life
Whole Life (Minimum Cost – Guaranteed)	Non-profit	
Whole Life (Minimum Cost – Non-Guaranteed)	Non-profit	

Product	Туре	Sub-type
Recurring single premium	Non-profit	
Annuity – Immediate	Annuity	
Annuity – Deferred	Pension (with- profits)	
Annuity – Deferred (Self-Employed)	Pension (with- profits)	
Annuity – Deferred Reversionary	Pension (with- profits)	
Endowment Assurance	Pension (with- profits)	
NuPen	Pension (with- profits)	
OpenPlan & ClearPlan	Pension (with- profits)	
Pension Investor & Pension Account	Pension (with- profits)	
Pure endowment	Pension (with- profits)	
Pure endowment – Return of Fund	Pension (with- profits)	
Deferred Annuity Laserplan	Pension (non- profit)	Deferred annuity
Annuity – Deferred Reversionary	Pension (non- profit)	
Annuity – Immediate	Pension (non- profit)	
Annuity – Immediate (Terminal)	Pension (non- profit)	
Impaired Life Annuity	Pension (non- profit)	Impaired annuity

Product	Туре	Sub-type
Annuity – Impaired (Terminal)	Pension (non- profit)	
Annuity – Reversionary (Death in Service)	Pension (non- profit)	
Bonds – Endowment – Hibernian Retirement	Pension (non- profit)	
Bonds – PensionWise Guaranteed	Pension (non- profit)	
Hibernian Pension Plan for Self Employed	Pension (non- profit)	Hibernian Pension Plan
Hibernian Pension Plan for Directors	Pension (non- profit)	Hibernian Pension Plan
Endowment - Laserplan	Pension (non- profit)	
Low Start Endowment Assurances	Pension (non- profit)	Endowment assurance
Miscellaneous – Extra Premiums	Pension (non- profit)	
Term Assurance	Pension (non- profit)	
Annuity – Deferred (Recurring Single Premium)	Pension (non- profit)	
Current Cost	PHI (non- profit)	
Current Cost (Benefits Attached to Pension Policies)	PHI (non- profit)	
Level Annual Premium	PHI (non- profit)	
Income Protection Plan	PHI (non- profit)	
Pre 2001 Celebration Bond	Linked	Bonds - Celebration

Product	Туре	Sub-type	
Post 2000 Celebration Bond	Linked	Bonds - Celebration	
Bonds - Dynamic	Linked		
Capital Guaranteed Bond	Linked	Bonds - Guaranteed	
Guaranteed Bond	Linked	Bonds - Guaranteed	
Bonds - Investment	Linked		
InvestorWise	Linked		
Bonds – Irish Property	Linked		
LaserBond	Linked	Bonds - Laser	
Laser Broker Bond	Linked	Bonds - Laser	
LaserBond Series 4	Linked	Bonds - Laser	
Bonds – NuLife	Linked		
Bonds – Portfolio	Linked		
Bonds – Special Investment Plan	Linked		
Single Premium Property Bond	Linked	Bonds – Spectrum	
Advantage Bond (Wrapper)	Linked	Bonds – Spectrum	
Bonds – Spectrum Porfolio	Linked		
Regular Premium – Hi-Life Plan	Linked		
Regular Premium – HomeBuilder	Linked		
Regular Premium – Irish Equity	Linked		
Regular Premium – Irish Property	Linked		
Laser Ten Series 1	Linked	Regular Premium - Laser	
Laser Saver Series 1	Linked	Regular Premium - Laser	

Product	Туре	Sub-type	
Laser Ten Series 2	Linked	Regular Premium - Laser	
Laser Saver Series 2	Linked	Regular Premium - Laser	
Laser Life Series 1	Linked	Regular Premium - Laser	
Laser Life Series 2	Linked	Regular Premium - Laser	
Laser Loan Series 2	Linked	Regular Premium - Laser	
Regular Premium – Maximum Allocation Plan	Linked		
Regular Premium – Mentor Investment Plan	Linked		
MoneyBuild Series 1	Linked	Regular Premium - MoneyBuild	
MoneyBuild Series 2	Linked	Regular Premium - MoneyBuild	
Regular Premium – NuCare	Linked		
NuLife I & II	Linked	Regular Premium - NuLife	
NuLife III	Linked	Regular Premium - NuLife	
Regular Premium - NuPlan I & II	Linked		
Regular Premium – NuSave	Linked		
Regular Premium – Prospects	Linked		
Regular Premium – Prospects PIP Plan	Linked		
Regular Premium – Regular Investor Plan	Linked		
Savings Plan	Linked	Regular Premium – Savings Plan	
Hibernian Savings Account	Linked	Regular Premium – Savings Plan	
Flexible Savings Plan	Linked	Regular Premium – Savings Plan	

Product	Туре	Sub-type	
Loan Security Plan	Linked	Regular Premium – Savings Plan	
Regular Premium – Special Investment Plan	Linked		
Regular Premium – Spectrum Portfolio	Linked		
Spectrum Saver (Pre September 2002)	Linked	Regular Premium – Spectrum Saver	
Spectrum Saver (Post September 2002)	Linked	Regular Premium – Spectrum Saver	
Spectrum Saver Plus	Linked	Regular Premium – Spectrum Saver	
Regular Saver	Linked	Regular Premium – Spectrum Saver	
Regular Premium – Triple Investor Plan	Linked		
Regular Premium – Whole Life	Linked		
Group Pension Single Premium	Pension	Bonds – Allocation (Group) Plan	
Bonds – Allocation Plan	Pension		
Approved Retirement Fund	Pension	Bonds – ARFs/AMRFs	
Morgan Stanley Quilter Executive and Personal Pensions	Pension	Morgan Stanley ARF	
Bonds - ClearPlan	Pension		
Bonds – Corporate Plan	Pension		
Bonds – Hibernian Retirement	Pension		
Horizon Plan	Pension	Bonds – Horizon Plan	
Horizon Plan 2	Pension	Bonds – Horizon Plan	
Horizon Plan Options	Pension	Bonds – Horizon Plan	

Product	Туре	Sub-type	
NuPen Buy Out Bond	Pension	Bonds – NuPen	
OpenPlan Single Premium	Pension	Bonds – OpenPlan	
OpenPlan Buy Out Bonds	Pension	Bonds – OpenPlan	
Pension Account	Pension	Bonds – Pension Account	
Pension Account Buy Out Bonds	Pension	Bonds – Pension Account	
Bonds – PRSA (Non-Standard)	Pension	Bonds – PRSA	
Bonds – PRSA (Standard)	Pension	Bonds – PRSA	
Bonds – PRSA (Select)	Pension	Bonds – PRSA	
Bonds – PRSA (Simple)	Pension	Bonds – PRSA	
Bonds – Transfer	Pension		
NuPen Additional Voluntary Contributions	Pension	Regular Premium – AVC	
Pension Investor / Account – Additional Voluntary Contributions	Pension	Regular Premium – AVC	
Group AVC Plan	Pension	Regular Premium – AVC	
Clear Plan 1	Pension	Regular Premium – Clear Plan	
Clear Plan 2	Pension	Regular Premium – Clear Plan	
Regular Premium – Clear Plan Plus	Pension		
Regular Premium – Corporate Plan	Pension		
Regular Premium – Corporate Plan Plus	Pension		
Group Benefit Plan	Pension	Regular Premium – Defined Benefit	
Executive Pension Plan	Pension	Regular Premium – Executive Plan	

Product	Туре	Sub-type	
Finance Life Personal and Executive Pensions	Pension	Regular Premium – Executive Plan	
Finance Life Chicago Personal and Executive Pensions	Pension	Regular Premium – Executive Plan	
Finance Life New York Personal and Executive Pensions	Pension	Regular Premium – Executive Plan	
Horizon Plan	Pension	Regular Premium – Horizon Plan	
Horizon Plan 2	Pension	Regular Premium – Horizon Plan	
Horizon Plan Plus	Pension	Regular Premium – Horizon Plan Plus	
Horizon Plan Plus 2	Pension	Regular Premium – Horizon Plan Plus	
Horizon Plan Options	Pension	Regular Premium – Horizon Plan Plus	
Laser Retirement Series 1	Pension	Regular Premium – Laser	
Laser Retirement Series 2	Pension	Regular Premium – Laser	
Laser Retirement Special	Pension	Regular Premium – Laser	
Laser Retirement Directors and Keyman	Pension	Regular Premium – Laser	
Laser Directors' Plan	Pension	Regular Premium – Laser	
Laser Directors' Plan Special	Pension	Regular Premium – Laser	
Laser Group	Pension	Regular Premium – Laser	
Laser Group Plus	Pension	Regular Premium – Laser	
NuPen Personal Pension	Pension	Regular Premium – NuPen	
NuPen Executive Pension	Pension	Regular Premium – NuPen	
OpenPlan	Pension	Regular Premium – OpenPlan	

Product	Туре	Sub-type
OpenPlan Self-Employed	Pension	Regular Premium – OpenPlan
OpenPlan Individual	Pension	Regular Premium – OpenPlan
OpenPlan Group	Pension	Regular Premium – OpenPlan
Regular Premium – Pension Investor	Pension	
PensionWise Group Flexible Commission	Pension	Regular Premium – PensionWise
Regular Premium – Personal Pension Plan	Pension	
Private Pension Plan Series 1	Pension	Regular Premium – Private Pension Plan
Private Pension Plan Series 2	Pension	Regular Premium – Private Pension Plan
Private Pension Plan Spread Commission	Pension	Regular Premium – Private Pension Plan
Private Pension Plan (Red)	Pension	Regular Premium – Private Pension Plan
Privately Owned Self Employed	Pension	Regular Premium – Privately Owned Pension Plan
Privately Owned Pensions	Pension	Regular Premium – Privately Owned Pension Plan
Regular Premium – PRSA (Non Standard)	Pension	Regular Premium – PRSA
Regular Premium – PRSA (Select)	Pension	Regular Premium – PRSA
Regular Premium – PRSA (Simple)	Pension	Regular Premium – PRSA
Regular Premium – PRSA (Standard)	Pension	Regular Premium – PRSA
Investment Bond (Option A, Option B, Option C, Option D)	New products	
Regular Saver (Option A, Option B)	New products	

Product	Туре	Sub-type
Aviva Pensions (Aviva Executive Pension, Aviva Retirement Bond, Aviva Personal Pension)	New products	
Enhanced annuities	New products	
Bulk purchase annuities	New products	
Aviva Group Protection – Group Life Insurance	New products	
Trustee Investment Plan	New products	
Overseas Treatment Plan	New products	
Overseas Treatment Plan 2 (OTP2)	New products	
Executive Pension Protection Plan	New products	
Personal Protection Plan	New products	
Personal Income Protection	New products	
Executive Income Protection	New products	

## Part B: Other products

Product	Country	Туре
Platina Plus	Belgium	Protection
Whole of Life Limited Premium	Belgium	Protection
Whole of Life	Belgium	Protection
Funeral Plan	Belgium	Protection
Family Life Plan	Belgium	Protection
Long Life Plan	Belgium	Protection
Term Insurance	Belgium	Protection
TSRD (Avant) UK	Belgium	Protection
TSRD Tarif UK	Belgium	Protection
Hypo Plus	Belgium	Protection
Mixte	Belgium	Savings
30/10 Special	Belgium	Savings
Combine 65	Belgium	Savings
Double Norwich	Belgium	Savings
Family Security	Belgium	Savings
Combined Insurance Futura Plan	Belgium	Savings
Blue Plan	Belgium	Savings
Senior Assistance Employer Pension Scheme	Belgium	Protection Pensions
Aviva Portfolio	France	Savings
Multi-Portfolio Gestion	France	Savings

Product	Country	Туре
Multi-Portfolio	France	Savings
Multi-Portfolio Retraite	France	Savings
Multi-Portfolio Standard	France	Savings
Nortia Alternatives Multi-Portfolio	France	Savings
Multi-Portfolio Oudart	France	Investments
Aviva Portfolio Madelin	France	Pensions
Multi-Portfolio Madelin	France	Pensions
ISF Personal Pension	Ireland	Pensions
NWPSF Personal Pension	Ireland	Pensions
OWPSF Personal Pension	Ireland	Pensions
Irish Personal Pension	Ireland	Pensions
NWPSF Portfolio Bond	Ireland	Savings
OWPSF Portfolio Bond	Ireland	Savings
Irish Portfolio Bond	Ireland	Savings
Ulster Bank Bond	Ireland	Savings
Terma	Germany	Protection
Gala	Germany	Savings
Diva	Germany	Pensions
Global Savings Plan	Germany	Savings
Basic	Germany	Pensions
Business	Germany	Pensions
Private	Germany	Pensions

Product	Country	Туре
Options Term Assurance	Iceland	Protection
Options Critical Illness	Iceland	Protection
Options Investment Plan	Iceland	Investments
Alphasave	Sweden	Savings
Personal Investment Plan Regular Premium	Sweden	Savings
Personal Investment Plan Single Premium	Sweden	Investments

# Schedule 2 OLAB Reinsurance Agreement (agreed form)

#### Schedule 3

## **NIA Amount and Nominated Investment Assets**

#### 1 Calculation of the NIA Amount

1.1 By no later than ten (10) Business Days prior to the Effective Time, the Transferor shall calculate and provide the Transferee with its best estimate of what the Transferor expects the Capitalisation Amount will be as at the Effective Time (such estimate being the "NIA Amount"), based upon the best information available to the Transferor at the time that it carries out such estimate. If the Capitalisation Amount is a negative number, then the NIA Amount shall equal zero and no Nominated Investment Assets shall be transferred to the Transferee pursuant to this Scheme.

## 2 Determination of the Nominated Investment Assets

- Once the NIA Amount has been notified in accordance with paragraph 1 of this Schedule, the Transferor and the Transferee shall discuss and identify such property of the Transferor as is equal to the value of the NIA Amount and which the parties agree shall form part of the Transferred Assets and be transferred to the Transferee pursuant to this Scheme (the "Nominated Investment Assets").
- 2.2 Where the parties reach agreement in relation to the identity of the Nominated Investment Assets, details of those assets shall be set down in writing and shall be deemed to be the Nominated Investment Assets. If the parties fail to reach agreement in relation to the identity of the Nominated Investment Assets within five (5) Business Days of the notification of the NIA Amount, then the identity of the Nominated Investment Assets shall be determined by the chief financial officer of Aviva plc (from time to time). The determination of the identity of the Nominated Investment Assets by the chief financial officer of Aviva plc shall be binding on both parties.

#### Schedule 4

#### **Calculation of Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses**

## 1 Principles of calculation

- 1.1 The Transferee shall calculate the fair value of liabilities of the Transferee in respect of the Converting IWPF Policies (for the purposes of this schedule only, "Liabilities") as at the IWPF Conversion Date.
- 1.2 For the purposes of calculating the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses the fair value of the Liabilities shall be greater than or equal to the fair value of the property allocated to the ALPI Irish WPF (for the purposes of this schedule only, "Assets") as at the IWPF Conversion Date. Therefore, as required by paragraph 42.4, if the fair value of the Assets is less than the fair value of the Liabilities on the IWPF Conversion Date, then for the purpose of calculating the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses the fair value of the Assets will be taken to be equal to the fair value of the Liabilities.
- 1.3 For the purposes of determining the fair value of the Liabilities, the assumptions and methods used will be on the basis that the IWPF Conversion does not take place.
- 1.4 Except where otherwise provided, the assumptions and methods used for the purposes of this schedule shall be determined by the Board of the Transferee having taken appropriate actuarial advice.
- 1.5 In calculating the fair value of the Assets and the Liabilities it will be assumed that the transfer of amounts by or to the ALPI Irish WPF in accordance with paragraph 42.2(a) have taken place immediately prior to Conversion.
- 1.6 The form and amounts of the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses shall be determined by the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the Head of Actuarial Function.
- 1.7 Having determined the value of the Assets at the IWPF Conversion Date (as modified, if necessary, in accordance with paragraph 1.2 of this schedule), the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses shall be determined on a basis designed to equate the value of the Assets with the value of the Liabilities in respect of the Converting IWPF Policies, as increased by the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses applied to such Policies. For this purpose:
  - (a) in determining the value of the liabilities under the Converting IWPF Policies on and from the IWPF Conversion Date (for the purposes of this schedule only, the "Post-Conversion Liabilities"), the assumptions and methods used (including assumptions regarding the

property backing the Post-Conversion Liabilities) shall take into consideration that, on and from the IWPF Conversion Date, the Converting IWPF Policies shall not be with-profits Policies;

- (b) the assumptions and methods used will be fair to holders of Converting IWPF Policies as determined by the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted the Head of Actuarial Function (accepting that the Head of Actuarial Function may wish to seek its own external advice on this matter);
- (c) the Post-Conversion Liabilities shall take account of all guarantees and options under the Converting IWPF Policies;
- (d) the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses shall apply to the Converting IWPF Policies until those policies terminate in accordance with their terms;
- (e) the determination of the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses shall take into account any associated shareholder interest and the allocated tax thereon as if the amounts allocated to Converting IWPF Policies under the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses were with-profits bonuses; and
- (f) the determination of the Guaranteed IWPF Bonuses will assume that there is no additional cost of capital associated with the Conversion.
- 1.8 For the purposes of this schedule "fair value" means the value that the Board of the Transferee, having taken appropriate actuarial advice and having consulted with the Head of Actuarial Function, determines is fair both to the Transferee and to the holders of Converting IWPF Policies.

87